
                                    CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Note: Detailed Information on current Agenda Items can be found at the City of Clarkston Website Agenda 

page.    http://clarkstonga.gov/council-agenda-archive 

  
 

  

 
 

  
 

AGENDA  Tuesday, December 4, 2018  7:00PM 

A. CALL TO ORDER  
 

B. ROLL CALL 
 

C. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 

C1) Approve Minutes: 11/3 Special Call, 11/8 Council Meeting and 11/27 Special Call 

C2) Proclamation Pastor Adams 

C3) Presentation - Food Well Alliance's -New Local Government Initiative 
 

D. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

 To discuss a Personnel Matter 

 
E. PUBLIC COMMENTS  

 
F. REPORTS:   

1)  Planning & Zoning Report 

2)  City Manager’s Report 

3)  City Attorney’s Report  

4)  Council Remarks 

5)  Mayor’s Report 

 
G. OLD BUSINESS 

G1)  Second Read - Amend City Charter Article III, Sec 302(b) To provide for an Acting City Manager 

when the City Manager is absent/unavailable on a short term basis; and provide for an interim City 

Manager when the City Manager is absent or unavailable for more than ten days 
 

H. NEW BUSINESS 

        H1)  Public Hearing 2019 Budget 

   1) 2019 Budget Presentation – Keith Barker  

                2) Public Hearing – To take public comment on the 2019 Proposed Operating & Enterprise Fund Budget 

                3) Council Adopt 2019 Operating & Enterprise Budget Ordinance 

H2)  PUBLIC HEARING: Variance requests from (Silver Oaks Apartments) Netz Fund Silver Oaks, LLC/TWG, 

Development, and LLC c/o J. Alexander Brock to vary from Section 614 of the Zoning Ordinance to eliminate the 

Street Frontage Requirement (proposed Tract II) and to vary from Section 622 of the Zoning Ordinance- Permitted 

encroachments upon required setbacks.  If granted, these variances will allow the applicant to divide the existing 

lot, known at 1281 Brockett Road, Clarkston, GA 30021 into two lots.   

H3)   PUBLIC HEARING: A variance request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated submitted 

by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, consisting of 

14.3941 acres to vary from Section 1102-Design Standards and Section 1107 Minimum off-street parking 

requirements to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit and to reduce 

the parking space from 20 feet deep to 18 feet deep. 

H4) Approve 2019 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) application submittal to the Georgia 

Department of Transportation 

Ted Terry – Mayor 

YT Bell   Awet Eyasu                                       
Andrea Cervone  Ahmed Hassan 
Jamie Carroll               Mario Williams 
 

Keith Barker – City Manager 



                                    CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

Note: Detailed Information on current Agenda Items can be found at the City of Clarkston Website Agenda 

page.    http://clarkstonga.gov/council-agenda-archive 

H5)   Amend Chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances regarding alcohol to define, permit and regulate 

Microbreweries and establish fees for Microbreweries License 

H6)  Approve Application for Beer/Wine/Distilled Spirits Alcohol – Dawghouse Restaurant & Lounge   

H7)  Appoint Planning and Zoning Board Member to fill one vacant position and to reconfirm one expiring term  

H8)  Approve New City Manager and Contract Agreement 

 

ADJOURNMENT:  



MINUTES 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

Saturday, November 3, 2018 

Officials Present 

Mayor:   Ted Terry 
Council:  Awet Eyasu, YT Bell, Ahmed Hassan, Andrea Cervone, 
Jamie Carroll, Mario Williams 
City Clerk:  Tracy Ashby 
 

. 

A. CALL TO ORDER –Special Call Executive Session Meeting: Vice-Mayor Awet Eyasu called the 
meeting to order at 9:30am 

B. ROLL CALL 
 
C. EXECUTIVE SESSION  

To discuss a Personnel Issue  

Ahmed Hassan made a motion to close the open meeting and go into executive session. Jamie Carroll 
seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (4, 0). 

Executive Session – Personnel Matter 

Mayor Terry arrive: 9:54am 
Mario Williams arrive 11:25am 

 Andrea Cervone made a motion to close the executive session and go into open session. YT Bell 
seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (6, 0). 

Andrea Cervone made a motion to adjourn the meeting. YT Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was called 
and the motion carried (6, 0).  Meeting adjourned. 



MINUTES 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

Thursday, November 8, 2018 

Officials Present 

Mayor:  Ted Terry 
Council:  YT Bell, Jamie Carroll, Andrea Cervone, Awet 
Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan,  
City Manager: Keith Barker  
City Clerk:  Tracy Ashby  
City Attorney: Stephen Quinn  
 

 

Mayor Terry called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. 

Roll Call: YT Bell, Jamie Carroll, Andrea Cervone, Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan,  

Absent:  Mario Williams 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Jamie Carroll made a motion to amend to agenda to add the ‘Sunday Brunch’ ordinance.  Awet Eyasu 
seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (5, 0).  

C.  ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 

C1) Approve Minutes: 10/2/18 Council Meeting  
 Ahmed Hassan made a motion to approve the minutes for the 10/2/18 Council Meeting.  YT Bell 
seconded the motion. A vote was called and the motion carried (5, 0). 

C2)  Update on the City Manager Search 
Mayor Terry reported on the City Manager search process. Mr. Keith Barker’s provided notice that he 
was retiring after seven years of service to the City, effective January 7, 2019. The City began a 
nationwide search to fill the positon by contracting with the Mercer Group. A total of 48 application 
were received and the Mercer Group presented the Council with a shortened list of nine candidates.  The 
Council selected five candidates to be interviewed (conducted November 3).  The Council interviewed 
and selected Mr. Robin Gomez, Fairmont WV, as the finalist. The final vote on his appointment will be 
at the December 4 Council Meeting and he is expected to take the position the first week in January.   

C3)  Proclamation Honoring Pastor Adams 
Mayor Terry stated that due to family issues, the proclamation honoring Pastor Adams will be postponed 
to the December 4 Council Meeting.  

D. CONSENT AGENDA 

D1)  Approve Change Orders #2-4 to the Contract with Stewart Brothers for Asphalt Pavement Repair 
and Resurfacing of Church Street and East Ponce de Leon and Asphalt Patching of Brockett Road   

D2)  Approve Change Order #2 to the Streetscape Contract with Ohmshiv Construction, LLC for 
Replacement of Concrete Header Curb with Granite Curb on Both Sides of East Ponce de Leon from 
North Indian Creek to Market Street  

D3)  Refer Affordable Housing Report/Recommendations to the Housing& Infrastructure SAC 



D4) Adopt Resolution in support of Industrial Hemp 

D5) Accept Low Bid Submitted by Autaco Development for Montreal Road – North Indian Creek 
Pedestrian Improvements SPLOST Project #05 

D6)  Accept Low Bid Submitted by Autaco Development for Montreal Road Pedestrian Crossing 
Improvement, Rapid Rectangular Flashing Beacon (RRFB) Installation SPLOST Project #06 

Awet Eyasu made a motion to adopt consent agenda items D1-D6.  Ahmed Hassan seconded the motion.  
A vote was called and the motion carried (5, 0).  

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Chris Busing addressed his thoughts on several of the agenda items.  

Susan Hood provided her recommendations for changes to the zoning ordinance. 

Harry Kendrick’s addressed concerns for Council Members Hassan and Williams to better assist and 
nurture the senior advisory committee.  

Brian Medford voiced his approval of the recent improvement to walkability/bike ability in the City.  

Several speakers addressed concerns with the NAMB project, the conditional use permit and mistrust of 
the motives for the church.  

Adam Nycamp spoke on behalf of the Culture fest and requested support for the 2019 festival.  

Dean Moore voiced concerns on further annexation efforts. 

Mayor Terry closed public comments. 

E. REPORTS:   
1)  Planning & Zoning Report 
No Report 

2)  City Manager’s Report 
Mr. Barker provided the Finance report thru October 31, 2018. He reported on the upcoming 2019 
Budget adoption process and that the proposed 2019 Budget has been transmitted to the Council and the 
document is available for the public to review on the City website. Mr. Barker provided an update for the 
SPLOST projects.  

3)  City Attorney’s Report  
No report. 

4)  Council Remarks 
YT Bell reported on the upcoming Tree Lighting event scheduled for December 8.  

Awet Eyasu on his visit to Somaliland on October 6-12th. 

5)  Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Terry stated he felt this current council was the most productive and proactive council in the last 
five years.  

F. OLD BUSINESS 
None. 
 
G.NEW BUSINESS 
G1)  Public Hearing: Annexation request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated 
represented by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon 



Avenue, Stone Mountain, GA 30083 into the city limits of Clarkston, GA. to receive a conversion zoning 
of NR-1, Low Density Neighborhood Residential. 
Shawanna Qawiy provided a summary of the request application. Council discussion with the applicant 
for projected revenues for taxes and the traffic study.  
 
The Mayor opened the Public Hearing. 
Speakers in support of the annexation request:  
 
Brian Medford stated if the City approves the annexation then we can control the process via city code. If 
the City denies the request, they can still go to DeKalb County. 
 
Wayne Evans (Tucker resident) stated he felt it was a good development. 
 
Amina Osman spoke in support of the annexation and there is a need for more housing in Clarkston. 
 
Roberta Maleveda spoke in support and she knows several residents that are anxious for the new 
housing. 
 
Speakers opposed to the annexation:  
 
Susan Hood said she was not opposed to the annexation, but that she had questions on the subsidized 
housing requirements and the scope of the proposed project. 
 
The Mayor closed the Public Hearing. 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to approve the Annexation request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist 
Church, Incorporated of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, Stone 
Mountain, GA 30083 into the city limits of Clarkston, GA. YT Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was 
called and the motion carried (5, 0).  
 
G2)  Public Hearing: Rezoning request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated 
represented by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon 
Avenue, Stone Mountain, GA 30083, consisting of 14.3941 acres from R-85 (unincorporated DeKalb 
County) to NR-CD Neighborhood Residential Community Development District.  
Shawanna Qawiy detailed the rezoning application request. She reported that the Planning and Zoning 
Committee recommended approval of the rezoning at their October 16, 2018, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The submitted site plan is for conceptual review ONLY. 
2. The applicant/developer is required to submit a conceptual site plan to the Planning and Zoning 
Board and City Council for final approval with any approved variances before receiving any permits 
to begin construction. 
3. Any variances requested shall adhere to Section 307 and 308 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
4. That the developer submit a 72 hour traffic study regarding traffic statistics. 
5. Request for acceleration and deceleration lanes to get into the property submitted to the Planning 
and Zoning Board at the next P&Z meeting. 

 
The Mayor opened the Public Hearing. 
Speakers opposed to the Rezoning Request: 
 
Susan Hood stated she did not think it was a good idea to approve rezoning a property prior to knowing 
the extent of the variances.   
 
Speakers in Support of the Rezoning Request: 



No speakers in support of the rezoning request. 
 
Mayor Terry closed the public Hearing. 
 
Jamie Carroll asked Ms. Qawiy if the layout of the apartments is consistent with adjacent existing 
apartments.  Ms. Qawiy confirmed the layout is similar to Sage Point Apartments.   
 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to approve the Rezoning request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist 
Church, Incorporated represented by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East 
Ponce de Leon Avenue, Stone Mountain, GA 30083. Andrea Cervone seconded the motion.  A vote was 
called and the motion carried (5, 0). 
 
G3)  Public Hearing: Variance request from Phillip Searles d/b/a BJS Starnes Elderly, LP to vary from 
Section 622-Permitted encroachments upon required setbacks; to allow an above ground detention pond 
to encroach into the required 25-foot rear setback at the property located at 3543 Clarkston Industrial 
Boulevard, Clarkston, GA 30021. 
Shawanna Qawiy provided a report on the rezoning request. She reported both staff and the Planning and 
Zoning Board have recommended approval with the following conditions: 
to allow an above ground detention pond to encroach into the required 25-foot rear setback at the 
property located at 3543 Clarkston Industrial Boulevard, Clarkston, GA 30021. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Based on the exceptional conditions related to this property, staff recommended approval of the variance 
request with the following conditions: 
 

1. An erosion and sedimentation control plan in accordance with the Georgia Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control Act or NPDES permit for construction activities. The plan shall also include 
information on the sequence/phasing of construction and temporary stabilization measures and 
temporary structures that will be converted into permanent storm-water controls. 
2. The owner/developer must ensure a maintenance access easements is sufficient for all necessary 
equipment for maintenance activities and establish provisions for the long-term responsibility for and 
maintenance of the structural storm-water facility to ensure that it continues to function as designed, 
and pose no threat to public safety. Upon final inspection and approval, if an easement has been 
created a plat, or document indicating that such easements and the long term maintenance agreement 
for the structure shall be recorded and shall remain in effect even with the transfer of title of the 
property. 
3. A chain-linked fence shall surround the structure with 90% visual blockage with a minimum 
height of 6’ tall. 
4. The owner/developer must provide an encroachment agreement for off-site work (on city right of 
way, and all adjacent properties). 
5. Shall comply with Section 1205 Buffers and Landscaping of the Clarkston Code of Ordinances. 
6. In those instances where the existing natural vegetation and topography are insufficient to 
achieve the desired level of screening as required, fast growing evergreens are to be planted so that 
the storm water detention pond is 100% screened from adjacent uses. Subject to final approval by the 
City prior to installation. 
7. Retaining wall shall not exceed a height of five (5) feet, unless existing topography prohibits 
retaining walls of a lesser height. Retaining walls shall be from finished poured concrete or shall be 
faced with stone, brick or smooth stucco. Subject to final approval by the City prior to construction 
through land disturbance and plan review permitting. 
8. Permanent structures shall be prohibited within landscape strips (such as buildings, parking 
spaces, dumpsters, drainage structures and detention facilities). 



9. The construction of the storm water detention pond shall not in any manner adversely affect other 
(surrounding) property owners.  

 
Jamie Carroll made a motion to approve the variance application for the Phillip Searles d/b/a BJS Starnes 
Elderly, LP on the conditions set forth by the staff. YT Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was called and 
the motion carried (5, 0).  
 
 
G4)  Amend Chapter 2 to Set the Amount of Annual Compensation for Elected Officials 
Ahmed Hassan stated the Council was discussing updating the compensation rate for the elected official 
but the amount he felt was too high. Jamie Carroll gave an overview of comparable cities rates he 
reviewed and he stated the rate would likely remain fixed for many years to come. Ahmed Hassan 
suggested reducing the rates to Mayor-$15,000 and Council -$12,000 annually.  
 
Ahmed Hassan made a motion to amend Chapter 2 to set the compensation for the Mayor $15,000 and 
Council $12,000 annually.  Awet Eyasu felt the amount was still high.  Discussion that the last 
compensation change was made twenty years ago. A vote was called and the motion carried (4- Yes YT 
Bell, Andrea Cervone, Jamie Carroll, Ahmed Hassan, 1-No Awet Eyasu). 
 
G5)  Amend Chapter 15 and of the Code Regarding Planning and Development and Chapter 15.5 of the 
Code Regarding Signs To Provide For Administrative Review and Approval of Sign Applications by the 
City Manager Rather than the Planning and Zoning Board 
Jamie Carroll advised that currently a sign permit application must comply with the Clarkston code to be 
approved and any requests that vary from the Code would then go to Planning and Zoning.  Transferring 
the review and approval of sign applications to staff will increase the efficiency of the Planning and 
Zoning Board and will remove the need convene meetings of the Board where no other business items 
exist. 
 
Ahmed Hassan made a motion to amend Chapter 15 and of the Code Regarding Planning and 
Development and Chapter 15.5 of the Code Regarding Signs To Provide For Administrative Review and 
Approval of Sign Applications by the City Manager Rather than the Planning and Zoning Board.  YT 
Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (5, 0). 
 
G6)  Amend City Charter Article III, Sec 302(b) To provide for an Acting City Manager when the City 
Manager is absent/unavailable on a short term basis; and provide for an interim City Manager when the 
City Manager is absent or unavailable for more than ten days 
The City Attorney reported he had made changes to clarify a distinction between and acting city manager 
and an interim city manager and he had added language, requested by the Charter Review Committee, to 
clarify that the Mayor, or City Council members, are prohibited from serving as city manager in an 
acting, interim or a permanent basis.   
 
Awet Eyasu made a motion to amend City Charter Article III, Sec 302(b) to provide for an Acting City 
Manager when the City Manager is absent/unavailable on a short term basis; and provide for an interim 
City Manager when the City Manager is absent or unavailable for more than ten days. Ahmed Hassan 
seconded the motion. 
 
Stephen Quinn clarified that the ordinance would be adopted at two consecutive meetings and would be 
effective after approval at the December 4 meeting. A vote was called and the motion carried (5, 0). 
 
G7) Adopt the Sunday Brunch Ordinance  
Mayor Terry stated that the Clarkston voters had approved the referendum to allow retail sales of beer, 



Malt beverages and wine for consumption on the premises on Sundays beginning at 11:00am. The 
proposed ordinance codifies the referendum results.  

Andrea Cervone made a motion to adopt the ordinance to amend Chapter 3 Article I to allow retail sales 
of beer, Malt beverages and wine for consumption on the premises on Sundays beginning at 11:00am.  
Awet Eyasu seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (4, 1- Ahmed Hassan 
abstain).  

 
ADJOURNMENT:  

Awet Eyasu made a motion to adjourn the Council Meeting.  YT Bell seconded the motion.  A vote was 
called and the motion carried (5, 0).  

Meeting adjourned. 



MINUTES 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

Tuesday, November 27, 2018 

Officials Present 

Vice-Mayor:  Awet Eyasu 

Council:  YT Bell, Ahmed Hassan, Andrea Cervone, Jamie Carroll, 

Mario Williams 

City Manager:  Keith Barker 

City Clerk:  Tracy Ashby 

City Attorney:  Stephen Quinn 

 

A.  CALL TO ORDER –SPECIAL CALL MEETING 

Vice Mayor Eyasu called the meeting to order. 

B. ROLL CALL  

YT Bell, Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan, Andrea Cervone, Jamie Carroll 

Mayor Terry and Councilman Mario Williams absent 

C. OLD BUSINESS 

None 

D. NEW BUSINESS 

D1) 2019 Budget Adoption  

1) 2019 Budget Presentation  

Mr. Barker provided a power point presentation on the Proposed 2019 Budget and provided financial 

information relating to revenue, expenditures, and grants funds. 

   

2) Public Hearing – To take public comment on the 2019 Proposed Operating & Enterprise Fund        

Budget  

OFC Koirala spoke in support of the take home police vehicles and he advised they would increase both 

recruitment and retention efforts in the police department. 

 

SGT Bulcher spoke in support of take home police vehicles. He reported he oversees the vehicle 

inspections and several of the current vehicles are continuously unreliable which can hinder the oncoming 

patrols with going into service. He echoed the concerns with recruiting new officers who will go to other 

agencies that provide take home vehicles.  

SGT Haygood spoke in support of take home police vehicles. He discussed that ‘hot seating‘ vehicles 

with little down time affects their operations.  He stated that take home vehicles would increase the 

visibility of police as shifts changes would mean twice the vehicles (entering/exiting) in the City.  

OFC Hazlewood spoke in support of take home police vehicles. She stated officers with would take better 

care/pride in those vehicles.  

Tracy Bishop expressed concern with the potential 5 mill increase to cover the proposed 2019 budget.  

Hussein Mohamed thanked the Council for the support of Sagal Radio.  He mentioned that he was proud 

of OFC Koirala who had served as an intern at the radio station. 



LT Hess spoke in support of take home police vehicles. He discussed the benefits as relates to both 

retention and recruitment of police officers. He stated several candidates for the police department had 

selected to work for other agencies, based on their take home vehicle option.  

Harry Kendricks spoke in support of the proposed budget and he urged the Council to approve the 2019 

proposed budget.  

Katy Jones stated increases in budget costs is to be expected and he applauded Mr. Barker on his 

leadership and the excellent budget presentation.  

Amina Osman thanked the City Manager for his budget presentation and she encouraged the council to 

support the police department’s needs.  

Warren Hadlock spoke in support of the proposed take home vehicles.  

Roberta Malavenda thanked the Council for including the Tell Me A Story program in the proposed 2019 

budget.  

Mayor Terry closed the budget public hearing. 

D2)  Approve Construction Agreement with Leach Landscaping, Inc. for construction of the Friendship 

Forest Redevelopment Project 

Mr. Barker reported that the initial design work commenced on this project in April 2017. The following 

probable estimate of construction costs were developed to compare to the submitted bids: 

Hayes James/Environs (design team est. August 2017): $1,185,000 

Collaborative Infrastructure Services, Inc. (estimate September 2017): $930,000 

AMEC (prepared master plan – 2016): $970,225 

A $1,350,000 loan through the Urban Redevelopment Agency was obtained to fund all phases of the 

project.  

On October 3rd, 2017, bids were opened for the referenced project. One bid was received; TriScapes. 

Although the TriScapes bid submittal met the requirements set forth in the advertised bid documents, the 

bid amount of $2,436,069 greatly exceeded construction estimates and available funding. The City 

Council voted to rebid this item.  

The project was again rebid and new bids were opened on November 2nd, 2017. One bid was received 

from TriScapes a second time. The bid amount was $2,106,399.95. The City Council again voted to rebid 

this item.  

One bid was received during this third bidding cycle from Construction 57, Inc. in the amount of 

$894,025. The City accepted and approved this bid and construction commenced. The City terminated the 

contract with Construction 57, Inc. via letter dated October 23, 2018 for various issue leading to non-

performance. Mr. Barker stated that the City has paid to-date $293,037.80, with an additional final 

payment off $6,000 due after negotiations. The remaining construction funding available is $594,987.20.  

He advised that the City has contacted Leach Landscaping, Inc. and requested their assistance with 

completing this project. Leach provided a quote to complete the project in the amount of $1,028,800. 

Anticipated construction administration costs and fees are estimated at $52,140 and DeKalb Water Meter 

Fees at $3,500 for a total of $1,084,440.  

 



The amount of additional funding needed to complete this project will be $489,452.80.  

Additional funding to complete the project is available from our SPLOST project account. The SPLOST 

legislation provides for expenditures for the repair of Capital Outlay Projects not to exceed 15% of the 

total SPOST allocation.  

The original SPLOST project budget included an estimated expenditure of $1.2 million dollars for the 

repair of the Norman Street Dam. The City has engaged an Engineering firm to develop alternatives and 

costs associated with mitigating the movement of this dam and preliminary estimates indicate that a viable 

solution can be implemented to address the structural issues for approximately $500,000. Additionally, 

several of the SPLOST projects completed or underway have come in under our estimated budgets.  

Mr. Barker stated that Staff recommends the City Council approve the attached agreement for 

construction services with Leach Landscaping, Inc. in the amount of $1,028,800 and authorize the City 

Manager to utilize up to $500,000 of SPLOST funding to cover the remaining construction costs.  

Discussion by Council on the SPLOST requirements and if the project would require a re-bid.   

Jamie Carroll made a motion to approve the proposed contract with Leach Landscaping, Inc. and 

authorize the City Manager to utilize up to $500K of SPLOST funding to cover construction costs 

contingent upon a finding by the City Attorney that it is legal for the City to enter into this contract 

without a public bidding process. Ahmed Hassan seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion 

carried. (4, 0).  

Work Session Held 

I. EXECUTIVE SESSION  

To discuss a Personnel Issue  

Jamie Carroll made a motion to close the open meeting and go into executive session. Ahmed Hassan 

seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (4, 0). 

Executive Session – Personnel Matter 

Jamie Carroll made a motion to close the executive session and go into open session. Ahmed Hassan 

seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (4, 0). 

Jamie Carroll made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Ahmed Hassan seconded the motion.  A vote was 

called and the motion carried (4, 0).  Meeting adjourned. 



 
  

 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

Recognizing and Honoring  
Pastor C. O. Adams, DD 

 
WHEREAS, Pastor Adams has been an outstanding and respected religious leader in the City of Clarkston, 
Georgia; and 
 
WHEREAS, Pastor Adams started his ministerial journey in 1998 when he heard the call from the Lord to go 
out into the world and proclaim the good news of Jesus the Christ. His Christian journey has carried him to 
Greene Temple AME(Atlanta), New Hope AME(Senoia), Greater St. James AME(Thompson, New Hope 
AME(Mesena), St.Paul AME(Vidalia), Greater Mt.Zion AME(Waycross), and Greater Mt. Carmel 
AME(Doraville).; and 
 
WHEREAS, Pastor Adams presently serves as the Pastor and Founder of Christ Community Praise & Worship 
Center located in Clarkston, Georgia 2000. In June of 2015, the congregation purchased the adjacent building to 
the church which now serves as a ministry center that was named in his honor, The C.O. Adams Center.; and 
 
WHEREAS, Pastor Adams has had the opportunity to travel to the continent of Africa twice. The first trip was 
to South Africa where he was privileged to preach at St. John AME Church in Cape Town. His second trip was 
to Zimbabwe where he was offered the opportunity to preach and present several workshops to several churches 
in the 17th Episcopal District. While in Bulawayo, Zimbabwe he was presented the keys to the city. A Bible 
College was also named in his honor during his extended trip; and 

WHEREAS, Pastor Adams is the author of Joy for Today, Hope for Tomorrow. The book was released in 
2013. It is a collection of inspirational writings and poetry. Pastor C.O. Adams is married to First Lady Tinnie 
Graham Adams. They celebrated 32 years of marriage in August 2018. They have one daughter, Christal, who 
is married to Rev. Justin D. Shaw. 

WHEREAS, Pastor Adams, as a community leader while Pastoring in Vidalia, he was instrumental in changing 
the street name from Third Avenue to Martin Luther King Jr. Avenue. He is a founding member of the 
Concerned Citizens Coalition based in Vidalia. In Waycross, he organized the Concerned Clergy Coalition, 
served as the Chairperson of the Southeast Chapter of the Red Cross and served as an Advisory Board Member 
of the Ware County Board of Education. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT PROCLAIMED, on behalf of the City Council and citizens of Clarkston, I, Ted 
Terry, as Mayor, have the privilege to give special recognition and honor to Pastor Adams, and hereby proclaim 
that December 4, 2018 is “Pastor Adams Appreciation Day” in the City of Clarkston and encourage all its 
citizens to express their appreciation for the many contributions Pastor Adams have bestowed upon our 
community. 
 

DATED this 4th Day December, 2018. 
 
              

        ______________________________________ 
                                                              Mayor Ted Terry, City of Clarkston 

 
ATTEST: _______________________________ 
      City Clerk 
 

 
 Seal 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES MEETING 

DATE: November 27, 2018

SUBJECT:  Amend the City Charter; to provide for an Acting City Manager when the City Manager is absent 
of unavailable on a short term basis; and to provide for an Interim City Manager when the City Manager is 
absent or unavailable for more than ten days 

PURPOSE:    
To amend the City Charter; to provide for an Acting City Manager when the City Manager is absent of 
unavailable on a short term basis; and to provide for an Interim City Manager when the City Manager is 
absent or unavailable for more than ten days. 

NEED/ IMPACT:  
In 2017, the City of Clarkston appointed residents and members of the City Council to the Charter Review 
Committee. The attached amendment, based on recommendations received from the Charter Review 
Committee, ensures that a professionally trained public administrator will fill the role of Acting or Interim 
City Manager in the event there is a short term or temporary vacancy in that position.  

Amendments to the charter requires two votes. Proposed changes to the charter must be advertised for 
three consecutive weeks within 60 days prior to the second vote.   

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
No staff recommendation. 

ITEM NO: 

ACTION TYPE: 
Ordinance HEARING TYPE:  

Work Session

DEPARTMENT: City Council 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 2 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  Y.T. Bell and Awet 
Eyasu 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF CLARKSTON TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER; 

TO PROVIDE FOR AN ACTING CITY MANAGER WHEN THE CITY MANAGER IS 

ABSENT OR UNAVAILABLE ON A SHORT TERM BASIS; AND TO PROVIDE FOR 

AN INTERIM CITY MANAGER WHEN THE CITY MANAGER IS ABSENT OR 

UNAVAILABLE FOR MORE THAN TEN DAYS. 

WHEREAS, the Charter Review Committee has recommended amending subsection 3.02(b) of 

the City Charter, which currently provides for the Mayor to act as city manager in the absence or 

unavailability of the City Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to accept the Committee’s recommendation; and 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized to amend its Charter pursuant to its home rule powers as set 

forth in O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City of Clarkston as follows: 

SECTION 1. City Charter Section 3.02, subsection (b), is hereby deleted and replaced with the 

following provision:  

"(b) The following provisions shall be observed when the city manager is unavailable to 

perform the duties of the office: 

(1) Acting City Manager.  By letter filed with the city clerk, the city manager shall

designate, subject to rejection by majority vote of the city council, a qualified city 

employee to exercise the powers and perform the duties of city manager during the city 

manager's temporary absence or physical or mental disability. During such absence or 

disability, the city council may revoke any such designation at any time and may at any 

time appoint any qualified employee of the city to serve as acting city manager. 

(2) Interim City Manager.  Whenever the city manager position is vacant, or it is 
anticipated that the permanent city manager will be unavailable or unable to perform the 

duties of city manager for more than 10 days, the city council shall appoint and enter into a 

contract for an indefinite duration with a qualified individual to serve as interim city 

manager until the City Council appoints a city manager on a permanent basis or the 

existing permanent city manager is able to return to performing the duties of city manager.  

The Mayor and Councilmembers are prohibited from serving as city manager on a 

permanent, acting or interim basis."   

SECTION 2.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 

SECTION 3.  This Charter amendment shall become effective December 5, 2018, upon its final 

adoption by the City Council at the second of two consecutive regular meetings.  



FIRST APPROVED, November 8, 2018. 

SO ORDAINED, this 4th day of December, 2018 

. 

ATTEST: 

By_________________________ 

Tracy Ashby, City Clerk 

CITY COUNCIL, 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 

_________________________ 

Ted Terry, Mayor 

Approved as to Form: 

___________________________ 

Stephen G. Quinn, City Attorney 



Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: December 4, 2018 
 

 
  SUBJECT: Adoption of the Proposed 2019 Budget by Ordinance 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE:   To Adopt the Proposed 2019 Budget by Ordinance.  
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  The City of Clarkston, Georgia is required by the City Code of Ordinances to adopt each 
year an Operating Budget for all financial funds and appropriations that shall not be made in excess of 
estimated revenues expect in the case of an emergency.  The City Manager is responsible for preparing 
and submitting the Annual Operating Budget and Capital Budget to the City Council for their 
consideration. 
 
The proposed 2019 Fiscal Year Budget was compiled based upon the input and assistance from each 
department.  The proposed budget, as presented, is balanced, and revenues equal expenditures, in 
accordance with Georgia State Law. 
 
The total proposed FY 2019 Expenditure Budget for all funds is $ 15,039,207. The total proposed FY 2019 
Revenue Budget for all funds is $ 15,039,207. The proposed FY 2019 General Fund operating budget of 
$6,378,468 represents increase of $474,063as compared to FY 2018. In addition to the General Fund 
operating budget, a Capital Projects budget, a Matching Grants Fund budget and a Community 
Development Projects budget have been included in this budget document. Segregation of these 
expenditure types will allow for a more transparent budgeting process. Details regarding expenditures in 
all four categories are included in this budget transmittal letter. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends adoption of the proposed 2019 Fiscal Year Budget by 
Ordinance. 

 
 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES NO 
Pages: 27 

ITEM NO: H1 

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES NO 

ACTION TYPE: 
Ordinance 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Keith Barker 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489 ext 425  



  

 

  

2019 
Submitted 11-06-2018 

City Manager                 

Keith Barker 

 

2019 Proposed Operating & 
Enterprise Fund Budget 

 

 



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
To:  Mayor Ted Terry  
  Councilwoman Yterenickia Bell 
  Councilman James Carroll 
  Councilwoman Andrea Cervone 
  Councilman Awet Eyasu 
  Councilman Ahmed Hassan 
  Councilman Mario Williams 
 
From:  Keith Barker ICMA-CM, City Manager 
Date:  November 6, 2018 
Re:  Proposed 2019 Fiscal Year Budget  

 
Please find attached the proposed FY 2019 All Funds Budget for the City of Clarkston. This budget was 
compiled based upon the input and assistance from each department and the Finance Director.  The 
proposed budget, as presented, is balanced, i.e., revenues equal expenditures, in accordance with Georgia 
State Law. 
  
BUDGET OVERVIEW 
The total proposed FY 2019 Expenditure Budget for all funds is $15,039,207. The total proposed FY 2019 
Revenue Budget for all funds is $15,039,207. Both the Expenditure and Revenue estimates represent a 
16% increase compared to FY 2018 amount of $12,958,105. 
The proposed FY 2019 General Fund Operating Budget of $6,378,468 represents a $474,063 increase as 
compared to the FY 2018 amount of $5,904,405. In addition to the General Fund operating budget, a 
Capital Projects budget, a Matching Grants Fund budget and a Community Development Projects budget 
have been included in this budget document. Segregation of these expenditure types will allow for a more 
transparent budgeting process. Details regarding expenditures in all four categories are included in this 
budget transmittal letter.  
Administration 
Total expenditures in the Administration Department have increased from $1,112,435 in FY 2018 to 
$1,265,106, an increase of $152,671 proposed for FY 2019.  This increase is due to vacation and sick time 
payouts upon retirement in January 2019 of the current City Manager as well as increases in salary, health 
insurance and retirement contributions FY 2019. The Administration Department budget figure represents 
20% of the total General Fund Budget. 
Group Health Insurance premium costs for the City overall have not increased significantly for 2019.  The 
budget for 2018 was $399,500 and overall slightly decreased by 4% to $385,960 for FY 2019.   Group 
 

 



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

2 | P a g e  
 

 

Health Insurance premium costs remain reasonable as this amount represents only 6% of total General 
Fund Operating expenditures.  

The City of Clarkston Defined Benefit Retirement Plan formula has historically been below what 
comparable municipalities provide their employees. Marginal plan enhancements were made beginning in 
FY 2014 however these enhancements were effective only as far back as the 2014 service year and 
therefore did not extend back to an employee’s initial date of hire. In order to aid in the recruitment and 
retention of a qualified workforce especially public safety employees, and to provide a fair and equitable 
retirement to long serving employees, additional enhancements to the Retirement Plan were approved by 
the City Council in FY 2017. The total cost for Retirement Contributions in FY 2019 is estimated to be 
$437,812 as compared to $407,153 in FY 2018. Total Retirement Contributions for FY 2019 represent 6.9% 
of total General Fund Operating expenditures.   

Police 

For FY 2019, the Clarkston Police Department authorized and funded staffing level is recommended at 
twenty (20) full time personnel.  After the 2015 annexation, staffing levels were increased to a total of 26 
positions.   In FY 2016 and FY 2017, the budget was reduced by unfunding two positions, likewise, in FY 
2018, three positions were unfunded.  Based on current recruiting results and police department budget 
needs including replace radio equipment in FY 2019 budgeted at $138,000, I am recommending three 
additional unfunded Patrol Officer positions, for a total of six unfunded positions in FY 2019.  If during the 
2019 fiscal year, all funded and vacant police officer positions are filled and if there are qualified 
candidates available and there exists a demonstrated need to fill those positions, the administration will 
request a budget amendment requesting an appropriation of funds to fill those previously unfunded 
positions during the year.  

Full-time personnel are organized as follows; a Police Chief responsible for management of the 
department, an Assistant Chief who commands the operational uniform and criminal investigations 
divisions, a Training and Certification Officer who serves as the department’s accreditation and state 
certification manager and will also serve as the department’s training officer to insure all personnel meet 
P.O.S.T certification requirements and a Captain that is currently assigned to a DEA Task force, three (3) 
detectives and thirteen (13) patrol officers, four (4) of whom are Sergeants serving as shift supervisors.  

The recruitment of qualified and desirable candidates to fill our Patrol Officer positions has been a 
challenge for the past several years. There has been a reduction in the number of qualified individuals 
choosing law enforcement as a profession. Consequently competition to attract and employ qualified 
candidates has increased. Additionally, we continue to lose experienced officers once they have obtained 
two to three years of training to other agencies.  

Despite efforts taken in 2017 to remain competitive such as; increasing the starting salary and providing 
signing bonuses for new officers, the police department continues to maintain an average of four to five 
vacant police officer positions at any given point in time over the past several years. Additionally to 
address our competitive disadvantage in recruiting police officers, we have included in the FY 2019 budget 
the purchase of additional police vehicles through a five year lease purchase plan to be able to provide all 
police officers with take home vehicles.    

The City of Clarkston is surrounded by agencies that currently have take-home vehicle programs.  This has 
created a situation where our Police Officer applicant pool is small compared with the neighboring 
 



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

3 | P a g e  
 

 
agencies with take-home vehicle programs.  This is often one of the first topics asked by Police applicants 
who frequently stop looking at us as an option upon learning we have no such program. 

Below are examples of officer and agency benefits: 

Proven agency benefits of such programs include: 

 Recruiting tool – Take-Home vehicles are a positive recruiting mechanism in a competitive market. 

 Rapid response to emergency call outs/recalls, since the officer does not have to go to the station to 
get a vehicle prior to responding.  

 Better accountability – Vehicles are not hot-seated and driven by several officers. 

 Sense of ownership and personal responsibility for vehicle. 

 The longevity of the vehicle is extended. Agencies generally replace their vehicles every two-to-three   
years.  Take-home programs generally extend the life of their vehicle for an additional two-to-three 
years due to enhanced vehicle upkeep by officers.   

 Improved maintenance – vehicles with one assigned operator tend to have preventative maintenance 
performed at appropriate times. 

 Maintains the professional appearance of the department- officers take ownership and treat vehicle as 
their own keeping it clean. 

 

Proven Officer Benefits of such programs include: 

 Officer’s positive attitude towards identification with the job. 

 Allows officer to keep their equipment in one place and not have to move it from cruiser to cruiser. 

 Time efficiency- time would not be wasted picking up a cruiser from the station before shift. 
 
This FY 2019 budget allocates $8,665 from the Federal Seizure fund for the second of five annual payments 
for the lease purchase of Tasers purchased in FY 2018 and issued to all patrol officers.  The department 
currently has a Taser use policy and also will benefit from having a certified Taser instructor within the 
department.    
 
The FY 2019 proposed operating budget for the Police Department is recommended at $2,017,811, a 
decrease of $96,691 as compared to the FY 2018 budget amount of $2,114,502.  Additionally in the FY 2019 
Capital budget we have allocated $138,000 to purchase new police radio equipment.  We have also allocated 
$160,309 in the Debt Service budget to cover the annual lease purchase principal and interest payments for 
the police take-home vehicles. These lease payments will be recurring for the next five years.  These Public 
Safety expenditures for FY 2019 of $2,316,120 represent 36.3% of the overall general fund expenditures 
budget.  
 
Municipal Court 
In FY 2018, there were five (5) full time positions authorized in the Municipal Court Office; one (1) Records 
Manager/Clerk of Court, one (1) Deputy Court Clerk and three (3) Court Clerks.  Over the past few years, 
revenues from court fines and citations has been reducing each year.  I am recommending elimination of 
one of the Court Clerk positions.  After the resignation of one clerk in February 2018, we left the position 
vacant and reevaluated the staffing needs of the department and it has functioned well revenues from 
court fines and citations has been reducing each year.  I am recommending elimination of one of the Court 
Clerk positions.  After the resignation of one clerk in February 2018, we left the position vacant and 
reevaluated the staffing needs of the department and it has functioned well without this position.   



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

4 | P a g e  
 

 
Overall personnel costs for FY 2019 will remain the same as FY 2018 as the elimination of this position will 
be offset with the anticipated increase in payroll expenditures in FY 2019 due to vacation and sick time 
accrual payouts with the anticipated retirement of the Chief Court Clerk.   Expenditures in Municipal Court 
department are budgeted at $595,193 for FY 2019 compared to $594,065 FY 2018. The Municipal Court 
budget for FY 2019 represents 9.3% of the total General Fund budget. 
 
Public Works/Building & Grounds/Parks 
 
The FY 2018 staffing level for the Public Works department was as follows; nine (9) full time authorized 
positions; a Public Works Director, two (2) Crew Leaders, one (1) CDL Driver/Equipment Operator and five 
(5) Laborer positions and three (3) seasonal part time employees during the summer months assist in 
mowing.  I am recommending adding one additional Laborer position for FY 2019 since Friendship Forest 
renovations will be completed in 2019.  The total budgeted costs for this position including salary and 
benefits is $48,202.  
 
The City has contracted with a private landscape firm to maintain the right-of-way landscaping 
maintenance at the I-285/Church Street exit ramps as well as the landscaping maintenance for the pocket 
park area at Montreal and EPDL.  The annual total cost budgeted for FY 2019 is $33,600. 
 
The Public Works Department currently has four (4) passenger trucks in its fleet. One of those vehicles is 
over 13 years old and has an undetermined amount of miles due to a broken odometer. With the increase 
in staff, there is a need for additional passenger trucks to transport staff and community service workers 
to and from the various job sites. We budgeted $24,000 for the purchase of one (1) Ford F-150 pickup 
truck in FY 2018, but put off this purchase due to budget constraints in FY 2018.   We have added the 
purchase of one (1) additional Ford F-150 pickup truck to the Stormwater Fund budget in FY 2019 to 
acquire a new vehicle.  The cost of the vehicle is estimated at $30,312 and that amount has been included 
in this FY 2019 Stormwater Fund capital projects budget.  
 
The FY 2019 operating budget for Public Works, Building & Grounds and Parks is $1,158,099 versus 
$1,075,784 in FY 2018 and represents 18.2% of the total General Fund Expenditures budget.  We have also 
budgeted the following capital expenditure items for Public Works in FY 2019 to include, two (2) new 
mowers at $17,200 and replacement of water lines at Milam Park totaling $20,000. 
 
Planning and Development 
 
The Planning and Development department is responsible for all zoning, plan review, building inspection 
and permitting functions. The Planning & Development Manager has been assigned to manage the 
activities of our technical consultants associated with these activities in addition to providing technical 
assistance to the Planning and Zoning Board, Mayor and City Council, and the City Manager. Professional 
fees for zoning, planning and building Inspection services are currently budgeted in this department.  
 
Effective code enforcement will continue to be critical to the future success of Clarkston’s economic 
development efforts. Given the age of many of our commercial, retail and multi-family dwellings, the City 
will continue to focus on addressing property maintenance issues that continue to persist. Code 
enforcement staff have done an excellent job of bringing the many commercial and retail businesses and 
multi-family complexes obtained as a result of annexation, into compliance. Therefore, for FY 2019, the 
City will continue to provide code enforcement services utilizing a full time staff person employed directly 
by the City of Clarkston.  Additionally, the City will continue to contract with a third party vendor to assist 
staff with providing construction plan review.  



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

5 | P a g e  
 

I am recommending the addition of an in-house building inspector for FY 2019 to perform building 
inspections and business inspections as our development applications and permits have significantly 
increased over the past couple of years. The total cost of this position including salary and benefits is 
$67,673, which is partially offset by the reduction of consulting fees paid to outside contractors previously 
budgeted under Professional Services.  

The recommended FY 2019 budget for Planning and Development is $338,275 versus $308,198 in FY 2018, 
an increase of $30,077.  The FY 2019 Planning and Development budget represents 5.3% of the total 
General Fund Expenditures budget.  

Community Action Projects 

The City of Clarkston believes that it is important to support programs and projects that enhance the 
quality of life for all residents. Therefore in FY 2019, this budget appropriates $64,500 to support the 
following Community Action Projects: 

 

 Senior Programs - $10,000 

 Public Arts Programs - $10,000 

 Recreation Programs - $8,000 

 Clarkston CultureFest Event - $4,000 

 Sagal Radio - $7,500 

 Clarkston Community Center - $11,000 

 Clarkston Special Events - $10,000 

 CDF-Tell Me A Story - $4,000 
 

Capital Projects/Debt Service  

During FY 2018, construction of Phase III of the Sidewalk Improvement Plan has been completed which 
includes the following sections: 

Phase III-Sidewalks EPDL from Market St to Montreal Rd 

 East Ponce de Leon Ave from Market Street to Montreal Rd and portions of Montreal Rd 
 

Construction of the Phase III project began in late November 2017 and was completed in 2018.  

Friendship Forest Wildlife Sanctuary is a 15.7 acre former county park located ½ mile from the Clarkston 
central business district. Access to the area is gained from East Ponce de Leon which is the main 
thoroughfare and busiest street in Clarkston. This potential regional asset has largely been underutilized due 
to its undeveloped condition and lack of visibility from the street. Beginning in July of 2015, the City of 
Clarkston began a series of public meetings designed to gain input regarding the redevelopment of this 
valuable greenspace. This community engagement effort culminated in the development of a “Master Plan” 
which was completed and submitted to the Clarkston City Council in January, 2016. Implementation of the 
Master Plan began in 2017. 

The estimated cost to complete all phases of the Friendship Forrest Redevelopment Plan to include design, 
permitting, construction and legal/financing costs, is approximately $1,400,000. The City obtained bond 
financing in the amount of $1,350,000 to complete this project. The $1,350,000 principal amount was 
financed over an eight year period at an interest rate of 2.77%. Therefore, this proposed FY 2019 budget 
includes the third annual bond payment of $174,207. Capital project expenditures related to this project in  



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

6 | P a g e  
 

FY 2018are estimated at $588,080 and expenditures of $400,918 are expected in FY 2019 therefore, this 
amount has been included in the FY 2019 Capital Projects Expenditure budget. Reimbursements from the 
bond financing proceeds will provide a 100% offset of this expenditure. 

In 2005, the City of Clarkston was awarded a $3.6 million dollar Federal Highway Administration Earmark for 
construction of a Streetscape project. Acceptance of the FHWA grant funds in 2013 required a guarantee to 
provide a local 20% match for project construction costs in addition to a commitment to cover significant 
portions of the engineering, design, environmental assessment and right-of-way acquisition costs. In order to 
provide funding for the required local match, Clarkston received a GTIB (Georgia Transportation 
Infrastructure Bank) loan of $2 million dollars administered through the State Road and Toll-way Authority, 
amortized over fifteen (15) years with an interest rate of 2.4%. Repayment of this loan commenced in FY 
2018 which coincides with the conclusion of the four (4) year “spend down” period. Debt service on this loan 
in FY2018 was $132,419.   

Debt Service payments on this loan for FY 2019 have been allocated in the Debt Service budget of $158,903 
to cover the quarterly payments of $39,725. Capital project expenditures related to this project in FY 2019 
are estimated at $3,240,000 and therefore, this amount has been included in the Streetscape FY 2019 Capital 
Projects Expenditure budget. The City Hall Annex project, which began in FY 2012, was successfully 
completed in FY 2013. Funding for the construction of this project was obtained through a GMA Lease 
Purchase agreement. This agreement includes a $700,000 loan amortized over fifteen (15) years with an 
interest rate of 3.22%. To cover the required loan payments, $59,025 has been included in the FY 2019 
budget.  

The City anticipates the need to obtain a TAN, (Tax Anticipation Note) in FY 2019 as bridge funding until 
property tax revenues is obtained during the 4th quarter of 2019, in the amount of $900,000. The estimated 
interest and loan origination fees amount is $12,000 and has been included in the FY 2019 budget.  

Capital lease payments associated with the purchase of police vehicles in 2015, 2017, and three new Ford 
Police Interceptors in 2018 are budgeted in the amount of $103,180 in the Federal Seizure Fund.  Revenue to 
cover this expenditure will be obtained from the Federal Seizure Fund.  

The FY 2019 General Fund appropriation for Capital Projects is $175,200. The FY 2018 General Fund 
appropriation for Debt Service is $764,284.   

SPLOST Fund 

The SPLOST referendum was approved by the voters on November 7th, 2017. SPLOST tax proceeds will be 
received for 8 months in FY 2018 and will total $1,213,282.  Expected SPLOST tax proceeds for FY 2019 are 
budgeted at $1,704,000.  In FY 2018, the City secured a SPLOST bond in the amount $5,150,000 with the 
principal and interest payments to be paid from SPLOST tax proceeds over the next six years. For FY 2018, 
the interest expense to be paid from the SPLOST Fund will be $103,494 and bond closing expenses were 
$95,942. Also in FY 2018 the City expects to complete SPLOST construction projects totaling $2,001,141. All 
expenses will paid from the SPLOST bond proceeds.   

The SPLOST Fund expenditures budget for FY 2019 totals $4,265,251 and includes payment of bond principal 
in the amount of $730,000 and interest payments of $126,803 to be paid from the SPLOST tax revenues 
received.   SPLOST construction projects for FY 2019 are expected to be $3,408,448 and will be funded by the 
SPLOST bond proceeds and SPLOST tax revenues received. 

 

 



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

7 | P a g e  
 

 

Storm Water Utility Fund 

Storm Water Utility Funds revenue will increase in 2018 due to a fee increase approved by the City Council.   
Revenue is expected to increase from $227,742 in previous years to $303,020 for FY 2018 and FY 2019. The 
City will continue to address storm water maintenance issues throughout the City and implement the City’s 
Storm Water Management Plan as required by the Georgia Environmental Protection Division.  

Funding will be utilized to address storm water issues that may arise in FY 2019.  

Sanitation Enterprise Fund  

During FY 2018, the City Council approved a 15% increase in the Sanitation fee effective for FY 2018 and FY 
2019 to offset annual CPI increases on our contract with Waste Management. The Sanitation Enterprise Fund 
continues to perform adequately. Expenditures and revenues for FY 2018 and FY 2019 are projected at 
$218,000. The contract with Waste Management provides for an annual increase commensurate with the 
CPI. 

 Grant Funds 

The City of Clarkston received funding from three (3) grant sources during the FY 2018 budget year. The City 
received $84,118 from the Local Maintenance & Improvement (LMIG) state grant fund and $80,000 from the 
“Off System Safety” (OSS) programs administered by GDOT. Funding was utilized to offset Sidewalk 
Improvement Plan construction costs in FY 2018.  Also in 2018, the City also a $40,000 Ten Minute Walk 
Grant from the National Parks and Recreation Association.  The City expects to spend $30,630 in FY 2018 on 
training and a Parks and Trails Master Plan, with $9,370 available to spend in FY 2019. 

Expenditures Summary 

The total proposed FY 2019 Expenditure Budget for all funds is $15,039,207 which represents an increase of 
$2,081,102 as compared to $12,958,105 in FY 2018. 

The proposed FY 2019 General Fund operating budget of $6,378,468 represents a $474,063 increase as 
compared to the FY 2018 amount of $5,904,506. In addition to the General Fund operating budget, a Capital 
Projects budget, a Matching Grants Fund budget and a Community Development Projects budget have been 
included in this budget document.  

 

  



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

8 | P a g e  
 

 

As depicted in the chart below, the largest expenditure categories by percentage for General Fund 
Expenditures are; Public Safety 31% and Administration at 20% of the total expenditure budget. Debt service 
costs remain manageable at 12% of total FY 2019 expenditures.  

 
 
Revenues Summary  

The proposed FY 2019 Proposed General Fund Total Revenue budget of $6,378,468 represents an increase of 
$474,063 or 8% as compared to $5,904,405 in FY 2018.  

The City continues to benefit from the effects of our successful annexation efforts. Increases in several 
revenue categories have contributed to the higher revenue numbers. Additionally, these revenue estimates 
also include the proceeds from all capital leases, bond funding and loan proceeds which must be shown as 
revenue in the year in which they are received.  
 
As depicted by the chart below, the largest revenue categories by percentage are; Real Property Taxes at 
57% and proceeds from Insurance Premiums and Franchise Fees at 18% of General Fund budget. Municipal 
Court Fines continue to be a significant revenue source at 11%, however this revenue category has 
continued to decline as a pro-rata share of the general fund budget.  Municipal Court fine revenue 
represented 26% of the total general fund budget in FY 2015. 

Additionally, significant increases in all business activity revenue categories have been realized, primarily 
as a result of acquiring new businesses and commercial properties through annexation as well as 
improved collection efficiencies. Revenue estimates for business activity related line items have  

 

20%

5%

31%1%

18%

12%

3%
10%

2019 Budgeted General Fund Expenditures 
by Function

Administration

Planning & Development

Public Safety

Comm. Projects

Public Works

Debt Service

Capital Projects

Municipal Ct.



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

9 | P a g e  
 

 

increased from representing only 2.8% of total revenue estimates in FY 2014, to 8% of total General Fund 
revenue estimates for FY 2019.  

Strategies such as annexation, business development and the successful pursuit of grant funding, in 
conjunction with an overall increase in the tax digest, have allowed the City to grow and diversify our 
revenue sources.  

 

 

The proposed FY 2019 Budget will be transmitted to the Mayor and Council on November 6, 2018. 
Additionally, copies of this document will be available for public review at the Clarkston Branch Library, 
Clarkston City Hall and on the City of Clarkston website. A public hearing will be held to afford the public 
an opportunity to provide comments and feedback on the proposed budget at 7:00 pm on November 27, 
2018 during the City Council Work Session. A budget ordinance will be prepared and presented for 
consideration and adoption at the City of Clarkston Council meeting on December 4th, 2018.  

I will be happy to make myself available so that we may review the following budget proposal at your 
convenience.  

 

 

 

 

57%, 57%

8%, 8%

11%, 11%

6%, 6%

18%, 18%

2019 GENERAL FUND REVENUES BY 
CATEGORY

Prop. Tax

Business Related

Court Fines

Other

Ins. Prem./Franchise Fee



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

10 | P a g e  
 

 

  

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED & 

AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

General Fund 5,794,696   5,904,405       4,004,612     67.8% 6,157,482          6,378,468     

Federal Seizures Fund 88,247           72,842              358,674          492.4% 360,025                103,180          

City Seizures Fund -                    50                     -                      0.0% 5,000                    1,000              

Grants Fund 102,365         160,000            204,118          127.6% 204,118                89,370            

HOST Fund 74,395           60,000              18,691            31.2% 60,000                  40,000            

Stormwater Fund 227,659         227,742            194,596          85.4% 303,026                303,020          

Sanitation Fund 185,147         190,786            127,848          67.0% 218,000                218,000          

Streetscape Construction Fund 1,418,277      4,140,000         441,835          10.7% 900,000                3,240,000       

URA Friendship Forest Fund 1,350,083      988,998            288,053          29.1% 588,080                400,918          

SPLOST Fund -                    1,213,282         856,472          1                      2,200,577             4,265,251       

Total Revenue - All Funds 9,240,869   12,958,105    6,494,898     50.1% 10,996,308        15,039,207  

Administration 985,611         1,112,435         920,418          82.7% 1,128,853             1,265,106       

Buildings and Grounds 192,316         136,610            107,422          78.6% 134,260                143,000          

Planning and Development 260,756         308,198            214,426          69.6% 258,812                338,275          

Community Action Projects 47,960           81,000              73,421            90.6% 105,209                64,500            

Muncipal Court 518,880         594,065            434,952          0.0% 568,779                595,193          

Police 1,867,043      2,114,502         1,582,423       0.0% 2,022,197             2,017,811       

Public Works 772,420         839,774            687,516          81.9% 893,199                908,519          

Parks 101,151         99,400              86,615            87.1% 98,480                  106,580          

Debt Service 345,159         467,821            232,027          49.6% 441,580                764,284          

Capital Projects Fund - General Fund 550,085         150,600            56,522            37.5% 195,478                175,200          

Total General Fund Expenditures 5,641,381   5,904,405       4,395,742     74.4% 5,846,847          6,378,468     

Federal Seizures Fund 78,482           72,842              111,182          152.6% 360,025                103,180          

City Seizures Fund 4,850             50                     2,477              4953.0% 5,000                    1,000              

Grants Fund 178,286         160,000            167,248          105.1% 204,118                89,370            

HOST Fund 50,000           60,000              -                      0.0% 60,000                  40,000            

Streetscape Construction Fund 1,401,277      4,140,000         547,370          13.2% 900,000                3,240,000       

URA-Friendship Forest Fund 272,113         988,998            287,989          29.1% 588,080                400,918          

SPLOST Fund -                    1,213,282         358,786          0                      2,200,577             4,265,251       

Stormwater Fund 101,645         227,742            79,001            34.7% 303,026                303,020          

Sanitation Fund 192,651         190,786            147,370          77.2% 218,000                218,000          

Total Expenditures - ALL FUNDS 7,920,685   12,958,105    6,097,164     47.1% 10,685,673        15,039,207  

BUDGET SUMMARY

EXPENDITURES

REVENUES

General Fund Expenditures Allocation by Function

2018 Projected %  of Budget 2019 Budget %  of Budget

Administration 1,128,853         19.3% 1,265,106        19.8%

Planning & Development 258,812            4.4% 338,275           5.3%

Public Safety 2,022,197         34.6% 2,017,811        31.6%

Municipal Court 568,779            9.7% 595,193           9.3%

Community Development Projects 105,209            1.8% 64,500             1.0%

Public Works 1,125,939         19.3% 1,158,100        18.2%

Debt Service 441,580            7.6% 764,284           12.0%

Capital Projects 195,478            3.3% 175,200           2.7%

5,846,847         100.0% 6,378,469        100.0%



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

11 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018 2017 ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 

, 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED & 

AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 BUDGET 

REQUEST

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION - 10-1110, 1310, 1330, 1400, 1500 

Council Salaries 511100 19,833              21,000               21,000               100.0% 21,000                  21,000                

Council Health Insurance 512100 34,941              54,300               34,708               63.9% 39,000                  46,656                

Council/FICA 512200 1,230                1,302                 1,302                 100.0% 1,302                    1,302                  

Council Medicare 512300 288                   305                    305                    99.8% 305                       305                     

Council Retirement 512400 1,834                3,360                 2,799                 83.3% 3,570                    3,570                  

Council Prof. Fees-Committee Stipends 521215 -                         -                        -                          

Council/Travel 523500 6,831                8,000                 7,255                 90.7% 8,000                    8,000                  

Council/Education/Training 523700 7,514                8,000                 7,350                 91.9% 8,000                    8,000                  

Mayor/ Salary 511100 6,500                6,500                 6,500                 100.0% 6,500                    6,500                  

Mayor Health Insurance 512100 7,621                8,700                 7,995                 91.9% 8,722                    8,916                  

Mayor/FICA 512200 403                   403                    403                    100.0% 403                       403                     

Mayor/Medicare 512300 94                     95                      94                      99.2% 95                         95                       

Mayor Retirement 512400 568                   1,300                 866                    66.6% 1,105                    1,105                  

Mayor/Travel 523500 757                   3,000                 868                    28.9% 2,000                    3,000                  

Mayor Education/Training 523510 910                   1,500                 4,505                 300.3% 4,505                    1,500                  

Gen Adm/Salaries 511100 427,466            491,045             415,220             84.6% 512,579                589,152              

Gen Adm/Group Ins 512100 42,449              45,600               41,821               91.7% 46,538                  46,716                

Gen Adm/FICA 512200 22,330              27,178               23,009               84.7% 27,489                  36,385                

Gen Adm/Medicare 512300 5,888                7,120                 5,758                 80.9% 7,173                    8,543                  

Gen Adm/Retirement 512400 59,200              102,567             83,443               81.4% 93,107                  93,107                

Gen Adm/Unemploy 512600 -                        -                         -                        -                           -                          

Gen Adm/Work Comp 512700 1,528                2,455                 1,848                 75.3% 2,455                    2,946                  

Tax Billing/Coll Svc 521100 3,808                4,500                 3,784                 84.1% 3,800                    4,500                  

Gen Adm-Board  Elections 521110 2,505                5,000                 -                        0.0% -                           5,000                  

City Auditor 521200 28,500              32,000               26,000               81.3% 32,000                  32,000                

City Attorney 521210 84,790              70,000               49,953               71.4% 70,000                  70,000                

Gen Adm/Professional 521215 62,993              27,000               40,356               149.5% 52,000                  82,500                

Computer/Hard& Soft 521300 38,997              41,000               34,112               0.0% 41,000                  41,000                

Gen Adm/-Repairs/Maint 522200 -                        2,000                 -                        0.0% -                           2,000                  

Equip/Rental/Lease 522320 3,947                4,400                 3,349                 76.1% 4,400                    4,800                  

Prop/Liability Ins 523100 34,432              41,000               34,568               84.3% 41,000                  41,000                

Communications 523200 2,083                4,600                 1,982                 43.1% 3,600                    4,600                  

Postage 523210 2,515                2,400                 1,427                 59.5% 2,400                    2,400                  

Advertising 523300 4,089                3,800                 2,263                 59.5% 3,800                    4,500                  

Printing Service 523400 17,296              19,900               9,885                 49.7% 19,900                  19,900                

Travel 523500 4,536                5,800                 6,701                 115.5% 5,800                    5,800                  

Dues & Fees 523600 23,517              24,560               18,986               77.3% 24,560                  24,560                

Education 523700 3,223                4,745                 3,799                 80.1% 4,745                    4,745                  

Other Services 523910 2,732                4,000                 3,258                 81.5% 4,000                    4,000                  

Bank/Finance Chgs 523920 10,624              13,500               6,995                 51.8% 13,500                  13,500                

General Supplies 531100 4,881                5,000                 3,886                 77.7% 5,000                    5,000                  

Books & Periodcals 531400 -                        400                    -                        0.0% 400                       400                     

Small Equipment 531600 1,252                2,000                 1,130                 0.0% 2,000                    4,600                  

Uniform 531700 706                   600                    520                    86.7% 600                       600                     

Other Supplies 531710 -                        500                    415                    83.0% 500                       500                     

Furniture and Fixtures 542300 -                        -                         -                        

Computer Equipment 542400 -                        -                         -                        0.0%

TOTALS 985,611          1,112,435        920,418           82.7% 1,128,853          1,265,106         



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

12 | P a g e  
 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018 2017 ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

POLICE DEPARTMENT - 30-3200

Salaries-Full Time 511100 1,104,285           1,214,944          835,852              68.8% 1,110,909         1,097,806       

Salaries-Part Time 511200 -                          -                         -                          -                      

Overtime 511300 14,184                12,000               16,135                134.5% 12,120              9,750              

DEA Task Force Overtime 511310 26,393                18,000               14,664                81.5% 24,600              18,000            

Health Insurance 512100 146,626              173,700             127,208              73.2% 148,859            155,120          

FICA Contributions 512200 68,386                77,187               51,209                66.3% 71,153              69,784            

Medicare Contributions 512300 15,994                17,791               11,976                67.3% 16,641              16,060            

Retirement Contribution 512400 105,486              199,191             165,918              83.3% 214,004            191,345          

Tuition Reimbursement 512500 -                          4,000                 -                          0.0% -                       4,000              

Unemployment Ins 512600 -                         -                          

Workers Compensation Insurance - GMA 512700 60,830                74,697               76,613                102.6% 76,613              67,533            

Uniforms-Protective Gear 512905 6,674                  5,800                 3,949                  68.1% 5,800                5,800              

Uniforms 512910 14,422                14,375               12,916                89.9% 17,672              12,500            

Professional Services 521220 4,142                  3,880                 822                     21.2% 3,000                2,880              

Police Admin IT Fee 521300 54,265                56,004               50,263                89.7% 61,200              64,800            

Repairs/Maint 522200 10,280                10,000               8,005                  80.0% 10,000              10,000            

Vehicle Repairs/Maint 522210 67,881                60,000               56,160                93.6% 73,193              60,000            

Equip/Rental-Lease 522320 3,196                  3,600                 2,669                  74.1% 3,339                3,600              

Liability Insurance -GIRMA 523100 68,079                70,000               68,013                97.2% 70,000              80,000            

Communications 523200 11,246                12,300               9,281                  75.5% 12,300              12,300            

Postage 523210 372                     250                    55                       21.8% 200                   250                 

Advertising 523300 1,781                  2,000                 1,147                  57.3% 2,000                2,000              

Prinitng 523400 2,721                  3,000                 2,096                  69.9% 3,000                3,000              

Travel 523500 4,511                  4,000                 6,026                  150.7% 6,011                6,000              

Dues & Fees 523600 8,007                  12,883               8,633                  67.0% 12,883              12,883            

Education/Training 523700 8,358                  4,000                 2,287                  57.2% 3,000                4,000              

Other Expense 523910 2,300                  2,000                 1,203                  60.1% 2,000                2,000              

Office Supplies 531100 3,352                  2,500                 1,123                  44.9% 2,000                2,500              

Investigative Supplies - CID 531130 2,176                  2,500                 941                     37.6% 2,000                2,500              

Gas, Oil & Diesel 531270 43,121                45,000               38,214                84.9% 48,800              88,000            

Books & Periodicals 531400 555                     400                    613                     153.2% 400                   400                 

Small Equipment 531600 7,420                  8,500                 8,433                  99.2% 8,500                13,000            

Capital Equipment-Vehicles 542500 -                         -                          

Capital Equipment-Body Cameras 542500 -                         

Totals 1,867,043         2,114,502        1,582,423         74.8% 2,022,197      2,017,811     



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

13 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018 2017 ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

MUNCIPAL COURT - 20-2650

Salaries 511100 211,940              219,354             163,947              74.7% 212,734            214,295          

Part Time Salaries 511200 -                          -                         -                          -                       -                      

Overtime 511300 1,986                  4,000                 3,176                  79.4% 3,736                3,000              

Health Insurance 512100 34,282                36,900               25,794                69.9% 34,159              31,024            

FICA Contributions 512200 12,126                13,848               9,433                  68.1% 12,154              13,472            

Medicare Contributions 512300 2,836                  3,239                 2,206                  68.1% 2,880                3,151              

Retirement Contribution 512400 17,385                35,737               32,872                92.0% 33,030              36,940            

Tuition Reimbursement 512500 -                          -                         -                          -                      

Unemployment Ins 512600 -                          -                         -                      

Workers Compensation Insurance - GMA 512700 684                     1,117                 841                     75.3% 1,117                1,086              

Uniforms 512910 -                          1,000                 402                     40.2% 1,000                1,200              

City Judge 521200 24,000                24,000               16,000                66.7% 24,000              24,000            

City Solicitor 521210 12,000                12,000               9,000                  75.0% 12,000              12,000            

Public Defender 521215 9,600                  9,600                 8,000                  83.3% 9,600                9,600              

Professional Services 521220 4,270                  4,000                 3,494                  87.4% 4,460                5,800              

Information Technology Services 521300 54,597                59,000               52,063                88.2% 54,800              59,000            

Equipment Rental 522320 2,807                  3,600                 2,669                  74.1% 3,220                3,600              

Liability Insurance -GIRMA 523100 -                          -                         -                          -                      

Communications 523200 1,752                  2,880                 1,861                  64.6% 3,440                2,880              

Postage 523210 -                          -                         -                      

Advertising 523300 -                          -                         -                          -                      

Prinitng 523400 1,746                  2,000                 1,076                  53.8% 1,800                2,000              

Travel 523500 4,169                  5,400                 4,014                  74.3% 5,400                6,000              

Dues & Fees 523600 555                     765                    511                     66.8% 765                   745                 

Education/Training 523700 2,450                  3,325                 1,720                  51.7% 3,000                3,100              

Other Expense 523910 43                       300                    100                     33.3% 300                   300                 

Office Supplies 531100 3,214                  4,000                 1,880                  47.0% 3,000                4,000              

Books & Periodicals 531400 143                     200                    -                          0.0% 200                   200                 

Small Equipment 531600 900                     1,000                 -                          0.0% 500                   1,000              

A & B Fund 571000 19,937                25,000               15,433                61.7% 23,148              25,000            

Training Fund 571010 35,118                40,000               27,406                68.5% 41,111              45,000            

Crime Victim Emer Fund 571020 17,973                25,000               15,750                63.0% 23,625              25,000            

Crime Victim DUI Fund 571030 79                       600                    128                     21.3% 600                   600                 

Brain & Spinal Inj Fund 571040 225                     1,600                 284                     17.7% 600                   1,600              

Indigent Defense Fund 571060 36,904                45,000               30,813                68.5% 45,000              50,000            

Crime Lab Fee 571070 100                     600                    75                       12.5% 600                   600                 

County Drug  Treatment 571080 1,126                  4,000                 814                     20.3% 2,000                4,000              

Drivers Ed/Tng 571090 3,932                  5,000                 3,190                  63.8% 4,800                5,000              

Totals 518,880            594,065           434,952            73.2% 568,779          595,193        



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

14 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

PUBLIC WORKS - 40-4000

Salaries-Full time 511100 363,441           383,275       330,313           86.2% 420,662           413,043        

Salaries - Part time 511200 18,602             30,750         25,574             83.2% 30,498             31,128          

Overtime 511300 3,684               9,600           543                  5.7% 2,543               10,800          

Health Insurance 512100 54,352             65,100         57,499             88.3% 64,872             73,160          

FICA Contributions 512200 23,650             26,265         21,861             83.2% 28,130             28,208          

Medicare Contributions 512300 5,531               6,143           5,113               83.2% 6,579               6,597            

Retirement Contribution 512400 31,507             62,860         56,458             89.8% 77,230             72,053          

Tuition Reimbursement 512500 3,000               4,000           1,000               25.0% -                      -                    

Unemployment Ins 512600 -                       -                   -                      -                      -                    

Worker's Compensation 512700 25,930             36,281         26,096             71.9% 36,281             39,080          

Uniform Rental 512910 5,677               8,400           7,270               86.6% 8,000               9,250            

Professional Services 521215 51,152             36,000         1,500               4.2% 10,900             16,000          

Computer Information Technology Support 521300 6,194               6,600           5,454               82.6% 6,577               6,600            

Landfill 522115 8,053               7,000           4,301               61.4% 7,000               7,000            

ROW Grass Cutting 522140 32,657             -                   31,165             36,877             33,600          

Repairs/Maintenance 522200 5,559               5,000           2,916               58.3% 5,000               5,000            

Vehicle/Repairs/Maint 522210 14,164             16,000         13,292             83.1% 16,000             18,000          

Equipment/Rental 522320 16,653             14,000         11,679             83.4% 14,000             14,000          

Liability Insurance - GIRMA 523100 6,253               6,500           5,348               82.3% 6,500               6,500            

Communication 523200 2,236               4,000           2,094               52.4% 3,300               4,000            

Travel 523500 651                  2,000           611                  30.5% 2,000               2,000            

Membership Dues and Fees 523600 535                  550              536                  97.5% 550                  550               

Education and Training 523700 370                  2,750           370                  13.5% 2,000               2,750            

Other 523910 2,007               1,000           1,256               125.6% 1,000               1,000            

General Supplies 531100 3,921               5,000           5,173               103.5% 6,000               6,000            

Electricity 531230 67,722             79,200         54,071             68.3% 79,200             79,200          

Gas, Oil & Diesel 531270 16,165             18,000         13,925             77.4% 18,000             18,000          

Small Equipment 531600 2,755               3,500           2,100               60.0% 3,500               5,000            

TOTALS 772,420         839,774     687,516         81.9% 893,199         908,519      



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

BUILDINGS/GROUNDS - 15-1565

Professional Svcs 521215 29,694           31,800           23,163            72.8% 31,800             31,800            

Pest Control 522145 1,640             1,250             1,334              106.7% 1,400               1,400              

Repairs 522200 24,883           20,000           19,514            97.6% 20,000             22,000            

GIRMA Liability Insurance 523100 4,784             5,000             3,646              72.9% 5,000               5,000              

Communications 523200 38,196           35,060           32,780            93.5% 35,060             35,800            

Dues and Fees 523600 -                     -                     -                     -                      -                      

Other 523910 2,124             3,500             -                     0.0% 2,500               3,500              

General Supplies 531100 14,162           13,000           10,035            77.2% 13,000             15,000            

Water/Sewer 531210 4,077             5,000             2,586              51.7% 4,000               5,000              

Natural Gas 531220 6,515             6,500             5,291              81.4% 7,000               7,000              

Electricity 531230 10,511           13,000           7,931              61.0% 12,000             13,000            

Small Equipment 531600 2,479             2,500             1,142              45.7% 2,500               3,500              

Site Improvements 541200 -                     -                     

Capital-Garage Door Public Works 542300 -                     -                     

Capital Equipment 54xxxx 53,250           

Capital Equipment-Paint Annex Bldg 541300

Capital Equipment-City Hall Fire Alarm System541300

TOTALS 192,316       136,610       107,422        78.6% 134,260         143,000        



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

16 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

PARKS 60-6200

Professional Services 521215 4,225             9,000                8,300                   92% 9,000                 9,000              

Pool Management 522150 45,067           45,000              45,396                 101% 45,400               45,000            

Repairs/Maintenance 522200 12,765           10,000              10,009                 100% 11,000               12,000            

Vehicle/Repairs/Maint 522210 -                     -                       -                          0% -                         

Communication 523200 1,089             700                   517                      74% 1,080                 1,080              

Other 523910 1,954             2,000                394                      20% 2,000                 2,000              

General Supplies 531100 10,771           9,500                5,265                   55% 8,500                 12,000            

Water/Sewer 531210 7,211             6,200                6,539                   105% 7,500                 7,000              

Electricity 531230 9,392             14,000              8,455                   60% 12,000               14,000            

Gas, Oil & Diesel 531270 -                     -                       -                          0% -                         

Small Equipment 531600 2,260             3,000                1,740                   58% 2,000                 4,500              

Capital-Shed for Milam Park 541200 6,417             -                       100%

TOTALS 101,151       99,400            86,615               87% 98,480             106,580        



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

17 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT - 74-7400

Zoning & Review Board Stipends 70-511100 3,050            3,600              -                      0.0% 3,000              3,600              

Zoning & Review Board FICA 70-512200 -                    222                 -                      0.0% -                      -                      

Zoning & Review Board Medicare 70-512300 -                    54                   -                      0.0% -                      -                      

Zoning & Review Board Training 70-523700 -                    1,500              -                      0.0% -                      1,500              

Salaries-Reg F/T 74-511100 126,371        131,781          102,390          77.7% 131,167          179,958          

Part-Time Salaries 74-511200 -                    -                     1,440              1,440              -                      

Overtime 74-511300 -                    -                     -                      -                      -                      

Health  Insurance 74-512100 14,343          15,200            9,873              65.0% 15,203            24,368            

FICA Contributions 74-512200 7,433            8,171              6,159              75.4% 8,222              11,157            

Medicare Contributions 74-512300 1,738            1,911              1,441              75.4% 1,923              2,609              

Retirement Contribution 74-512400 11,317          21,085            19,328            91.7% 30,593            30,593            

Unemployment Ins 74-512600 -                    -                     -                      

Workers Compensation 74-512700 1,521            3,519              1,647              46.8% 3,519              4,805              

Uniforms 74-512910 168               500                 659                 131.8% 454                 750                 

Professional Services 74-521215 50,622          60,000            25,981            43.3% 37,013            35,000            

Building Inspections/Permitting 74-521220 31,542          42,000            31,602            75.2% 18,220            15,000            

Computer and Software Services 74-521300 3,630            3,800              3,630              95.5% 170                 8,800              

Vehicle Repair & Maintenance 74-522210 1,468            1,300              431                 33.2% 1,108              1,300              

Communication 74-522210 2,239            2,280              1,605              70.4% 916                 3,060              

Other Expense-Advertising 74-523300 500               600                 320                 53.3% 460                 600                 

Printing Service 74-523400 352               600                 1,358              226.3% 250                 1,100              

Travel 74-523500 1,064            4,000              4,175              104.4% 870                 5,100              

Dues and Fees 74-523600 715               400                 884                 221.0% 100                 1,000              

Education/Tng 74-523700 2,475            2,175              1,190              54.7% 985                 2,975              

General Supplies 74-531100 209               500                 313                 62.6% 500                 500                 

Gasoline  & Fuel 74-531270 -                    2,000              -                      0.0% 1,500              2,000              

Small Equipment 74-531600 -                    1,000              -                      1,200              2,500              

TOTALS PLANNING & ZONING 260,756      308,198        214,426        69.6% 258,812        338,275        

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

COMMUNITY ACTION PROJECTS 10-7600

Clarkston Speaks-GA Tech Survey 521215 5,000            -                     -                      

Clarkston Special Events 531120 9,926            10,000            13,525            135.3% 15,525            10,000            

Clarkston Community Center 573010 20,000          10,000            11,000            110.0% 11,000            11,000            

Sagal Radio 573020 3,500            7,500              7,500              100.0% 7,500              7,500              

Clarkston Community CultureFest Festival 573040 2,034            2,000              2,010              100.5% 2,010              4,000              

Public Arts Program 521215 7,500            10,000            0.0% 10,000            10,000            

Senior Programs 15,000            -                      15,000            10,000            

Affordable Housing Inventory Analysis 521200 10,000            10,000            100.0% 10,000            

Tell Me A Story Event 6,000              6,000              100.0% 6,000              4,000              

Freedom Middle School Soccer 2,500              

Recreation Programs 8,000              9,504              118.8% 9,504              8,000              

Wildflower Project 13,882            18,670            

TOTAL COMMUNITY ACTION PROJECTS 47,960        81,000          73,421          90.6% 105,209        64,500           



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

18 | P a g e  
 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 26 

, 2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& 

AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

DEBT SERVICE

DEBT SERVICE- PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS

Debt Servoce-Principal-Bonds (581100)

Friendship Forest Redevelopment-Principal-Bonds 581200 142,224     144,109       -                     144,109           146,019       

Debt Service-Principal-Capital Leases (581200)

Debt Service-Principal-City Hall 581200 42,660      44,051        44,051             100% 44,051            45,487        

Debt Service-Principal-Public Works 581200 70,950      17,955        17,955             100% 17,955            -                 

Debt Service-Principal-Ford Motor Credit 581200 6,841        -                 -                     -                     -                 

Debt Service-Principal-10 Police Interceptors 

Take Home Cars 581200 138,065       

Debt Service - Principal- Two Public Works 

Trucks/Police Body Cameras 581200 29,423      40,239        29,910             74% 40,023            41,353        

Subtotal 581200 - Principal on Capital 

Leases 581200 149,874   102,245     91,916           90% 102,029         224,905     

Debt Service-Principal-Bonds (581300)

GTIB/SRTA Loan #1 112,130       74,454             66% 93,255            114,394       

GTIB/SRTA Loan #2 129,668       

Subtotal Debt Service - Principal Payments 581XXX 292,098   358,484     166,371         46% 339,393         614,986     

DEBT SERVICE - INTEREST PAYMENTS

Debt Service-Interest-Bonds

Friendship Forest Redevelopment - Interest 582100 25,241      32,006        16,003             50% 32,006            28,188        

Debt Service-Interest-Capital Leases (582200)

Debt Service-Interest- Capital Lease-City Hall 

Annex 582200 16,364      14,974        14,974             100% 14,974            13,538        

Debt Service-Interest- Capital Lease-Pub Works 

Bldg 582200 1,223        88              88                   100% -                     -                 

Debt Service-Interest-Capital Lease-Ford Motor 

Credit 582200 440           -                 -                     -                     -                 

Debt Service-Interest-Capital Lease-Take Home 

Cars-10 Ford Interceptors 582200 -               -                 -                     -                     22,244        

Debt-Service-Interest- Capital Lease-2017 Pub 

Works Vehicles / Police Body Cameras 582200 3,380        3,497          3,112               89% 4,043              2,823          

Subtotal 582200 - Interest of Capital Leases 582200 21,407     18,559       18,173           98% 19,017           38,605       

Debt Service-Interest-Other Debt

Debt Service- Interest Payment-GTIB Loan #1 582300 46,772        31,480             67% 39,164            44,509        

Debt Service- Interest Payment-GTIB Loan #2 582300 -                     25,996        

Debt Service-Other Interest Expense-TAN 582300 6,412        12,000        -                     0% 12,000            12,000        

Subtotal 582300-Interest on Capital Leases 6,412       58,772       31,480           67% 51,164           82,505       

Subtotal Debt Service - Interest Payments 582XXX 53,060     109,337     65,657           60% 102,187         149,298     

TOTAL GENERAL DEBT SERVICE 345,159   467,821     232,027         50% 441,580         764,284     



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

19 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

GENERAL FUND Capital Projects

New Police Vehicles - Capital Lease 542200 102,365          131,772           

Police-New Public Safety Radios/System 138,000        

Public Works Vehicles 542200 75,390            24,000             0%

Public Works-Chipper 38,000             30,202               30,202             

Police Body Cameras 111,745          

Public Works-Land for Public Works Equipment

City Hall Annex Parking Lot Expansion

Milam Park Pavillions-Rework Electrical 15,000            

Public Works - Lawn Mower 8,323              8,600               0% 17,200          

Guardrail Repairs 14,070            

Trail Cart-Public Works

Parks-Milam Park Water Line Replacement 20,000          

Bldgs/Grounds-City Hall Fire Alarm System 5,465                 5,465               

Bldgs/Grounds-Paint Exterior City Hall Annex 6,864                 6,864               

East Ponce Sidewalk Phase 3-Market St to Montreal 161,850          -                         -                       

Trees Atlanta Installation 9,000              11,591               18,775             

PATH Project 29,103            

I-285 Gateway  Monument Sign 11,780            80,000             2,400                 3% 2,400               

Gateway Project - I-285 Interchange 11,459            

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROJECTS 550,085        150,600         56,522              38% 195,478         175,200      

URA FRIENDSHIP FOREST CAPITAL FUND

Friendship Forest Nature Redevelopment 988,998           287,989             29% 588,080           400,918        

Reserve to Fund Balance for 2018

TOTAL URA FRIENDSHIP FOREST CAPITAL FUND 988,998         287,989           29% 588,080         400,918      

STREETSCAPE CONSTRUCTION FUND

Streetscape Construction Fund 1,401,277       4,140,000        547,370             13% 900,000           3,240,000     

SPLOST FUND

SPLOST FUND Bond Principal Payments 730,000        

SPLOST FUND Bond Interest Payment 103,494           126,803        

SPLOST FUND Construction -                      1,213,282        358,786             30% 2,097,083        3,408,448     

SPLOST FUND Total Expenditures -                      1,213,282     358,786           30% 2,200,577      4,265,251   

Total Capital Projects 1,951,361     6,492,880     1,250,667        1                 3,780,641      7,224,566   



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

20 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

EXPENDITURE

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 2 -  FEDERAL SEIZURE - Expenditures                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Professional 521200 -                      -                      

Repairs/Maintenance 522200 -                      -                      

Vehicle Repairs 522210 -                      -                      

Communications 523200 -                      -                      

Printing 523400 -                      -                      

Travel 523500 1,890              1,641              2,141               

Due & Fees 523600 -                      

Education 523700 -                      1,605              2,005               

Other Expense 523910 3,950              -                       

General Supplies 531100 258                 8,374              8,500               

Small Equipment 531600 3,936              21,264            25,264             

Vehicles 542200 9,868              20,000             

Computers 542500 -                      

Vehicle Lease Payments-Principal 581200 53,818            61,057              55,092            90.2% 61,057             87,150             

Vehicle Lease Payments-Interest 582200 4,763              3,776                3,719              98.5% 4,370               7,365               

Axon Lasers Lease Payments 522320 8,009                8,665              8,665               8,665               

Rifles from City of Doraville 542500 10,820            10,820             -                       

Fund Balance Committed Future Lease Payments -                       

Fund Balance Rollforward 217,203           

TOTALS 78,482           72,842            111,182        152.6% 360,025         103,180         

As of October 26, 2018

EXPENDITURE

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL AS 

OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 2 - CITY SEIZURE - Expenditures          

Repairs/Maintenance 522200 0.00 -                    0.0%

Vehicle Repairs 522210 0.00 -                    0.0%

Communications 523200 0.00 -                    0.0%

Printing 523400 0.00 -                    0.0%

Travel 523500 0.00 -                    660                 0.0% 3,180               1,000               

Education 523700 1,782.15 -                    -                      0.0%

Other Expense 523910 1,039.89 50.00                -                      0.0%

Small Equipment 531600 2,028.43 -                    1,817              0.0% 1,820               

General Supplies 531100 0.00 -                    0.0%

Computers 542400 0.00 -                    0.0%

Other Capital Equip 542500 0.00 -                    0.0%

Seizure Distributions to Other Agencies 571000

TOTALS 4,850.47 50.00               2,477             4953.0% 5,000              1,000              

As of October 26, 2018

Federal and City Seizure expenses fully funded by Seizure revenues.

Seizure accounts are separate funds that may be expended to the full balance available.



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

21 | P a g e  
 

  

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 3 - SPECIAL REVENUE -  MULTIPLE GRANT FUND - Expenditures

-                  -                   -                           

GDOT LMIG- 573030 75,921         80,000        84,118                  105.1% 84,118              80,000            

Gateway @ I-285 Landscaping 50,000         -                   -                           

Board of Health-Community Relations 511100 42,653         -                   -                           

NRPA 10 Minute Walk Grant -                   3,130                    40,000              9,370              

GDOT-EPDL Sidewalk Market to Montreal 573030 -                  80,000        80,000                  100.0% 80,000              -                      

PATH Foundation-Path Grant 9,712           -                   -                           -                      

TOTALS 178,286     160,000     167,248              105.1% 204,118          89,370          

Grant Revenues reimburse grant expenditures only. Expenditures matches revenue

Grant Expenditures funded by Grant Revenue

EXPENDITURE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 4  - Enterprise Fund - Storm Water  - Expenditures 500-

Storm Water - Professional Svcs 521200 6,901           30,000         30,823                  102.7% 40,000              30,000            

Storm Water - Rep/Maint 521200 4,682           41,500         1,750                    4.2% 10,000              10,000            

Storm Water - Dues/Fees-Community View 523600 10,070         11,000         11,709                  106.4% 12,000              12,000            

Storm Water - Veh Maint/Rep 522200 2,617           -                   1,012                    2,000                3,000              

Storm Water- Equipment Lease/Rental 522320 23,647         23,840         18,190                  76.3% 23,840              22,708            

Storm Water -Communications 523200 -                  -                        

Storm Water-Training Expense 523700 2,322                    2,500                

Storm Water - General Supplies 531100 512              3,000           146                       4.9% 1,000                

Storm Water-Vehicles 542200 0.0% 30,312            

Storm Water - Water Gas, Oil & Diesel 531270 -                  1,000           0.0%

Storm Water - Depreciation 561000 53,217         

Storm Water- Capital Outlay 542500 117,402       13,050                  11.1% 30,000              195,000          

Increase in Fund Balance 181,686            

TOTAL 101,645     227,742     79,001                34.7% 303,026          303,020        

Note: Storm Water new  Fund 4.  Revenues from Storm Water Fund only expended on Storm Water expenditures.

Storm Water Expenditures fully funded by Storm Water Utility Revenues.

EXPENSE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND  -6 -SANITATION ENTERPRISE FUND -

Waste Management Fees 522110 192,635       190,786       147,370                77.2% 218,000            218,000          

Sanitation Bank Charge 523920 15                -                   -                           

TOTALS 192,651     190,786     147,370              77.2% 218,000          218,000        

EXPENSE

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND -330 -HOST REVENUE FUND -

HOST Expenditures-EPDL Sidewalks-Phase 3 541XXX 50,000         60,000        -                           0.0% 60,000              40,000            

TOTALS 50,000       60,000        -                           0.0% 60,000            40,000          

EXPENSE

EXPENSE 0.00 80,000.00 80,000.00 1.00 80,000.00 0.00

FUND -360 -URA FRIENDSHIP FOREST FUND

URA Friendship Forest Redevel Proj-Construction 541200 227,886       988,998     287,989                29.1% 588,080            400,998          

URA Friendship Forest Redevel Proj-Financing 584000 44,227         

TOTALS 272,113     988,998     287,989              29.1% 588,080          400,998        



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

22 | P a g e  
 

 

REVENUES

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& 

AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

Public Utility R/E Tax - Current 311110 137,493       -                 -                 135,000          135,000         

Other Real Prop Tax 311190 2,162,270    2,759,277     1,392,888    50% 2,740,000        3,092,258       
Real Property Tax - Prior 311200 93,576        84,000         113,281       135% 113,281          113,281         
Public Utility R/E Tax - Prior 311210 206,239       173,045       132,461       132,461          132,461         
Motor Vehicle Tax - Curr 311310 76,564        80,000         71,901        90% 80,000            85,000           
Intangible Tax (Reg/Rec) 311340 32,243        42,000         21,381        51% 25,000            25,000           
Railroad Equip Tx-Curr 311350 714             800             810             101% 810                810               
Personal Prop Tax-Curr 311390 41,301        51,802         28,635        55% 51,802            51,802           
Personal Prop Tax-Prior 311400 4,131          1,500           2,924          195% 2,924              2,924             
Real Estate Transfer Tax 311600 9,834          14,000         14,351        103% 15,500            15,000           
Franchise Taxes-Electric 311710 188,610       215,000       1,410          1% 215,000          215,000         
Franshise Taxes-Gas 311730 20,533        21,889         15,216        70% 21,889            21,889           
Franchise Taxes-Cable/T 311750 43,637        46,000         25,794        56% 40,000            40,000           
Franchise Taxes-Teleph 311760 3,779          6,142           1,711          28% 4,000              5,000             
Alcoholic Bev Excise Tax 314200 105,212       100,000       87,774        88% 100,000          100,000         
Local Option Mix Dr Tax 314300 13,992        11,000         10,838        99% 12,000            12,000           
Business/Occupational Tax 316100 232,013       220,000       203,757       93% 228,000          220,000         
Insurance Premium Tax 316200 804,244       810,000       867,339       107% 867,339          867,339         
Penalties/Interest-Real Tax 319110 21,375        4,000           9,029          226% 9,500              9,500             
Penalties/Interest-Occupation Tax 319400 5,899          4,000           3,278          3,278              3,278             
Alcoholic Investigation Fee 321105 5,000          6,000           5,200          87% 5,200              5,200             
Retail  Beer License 321110 8,500          8,000           9,500          119% 9,500              9,500             
Retail   Beer License/Drink 321115 3,592          4,250           3,500          82% 3,500              3,500             
Retail Wine License 321120 8,500          8,750           9,500          109% 9,500              9,500             
Retail Wine License/Drink 321125 3,542          4,250           3,450          81% 3,450              3,450             
Retail Liquor License 321130 10,000        10,000         10,000        100% 10,000            10,000           
Retail Liquor License/Drink 321135 15,000        15,000         14,450        96% 14,450            14,450           
Work Permit & ID Card-Alcohol 321150 6,510          6,000           5,324          89% 6,000              6,000             
Work Permiit & ID Card-Entertainment321151 94,699        80,000         81,937        102% 85,000            85,000           
Pawn Shop Permits 321152 5,000          1,500           -                 -                    -                   
Hookah Permits 321153 -                 -                 2,003          2,003              2,003             
Ins Co Business License 321220 14,098        13,000         12,200        94% 12,200            12,200           
Zoning/Land Use Permits 322210 1,720          1,600           4,933          308% 5,000              5,000             
Sign Permits 322230 2,843          3,000           3,232          108% 3,500              3,500             
Building Permits 322240 72,442        40,000         70,476        176% 80,000            80,000           

Tree Service Permit Fees 322245 606             600             482             80% 600                600               

Certificate of Occupancy 322250 1,727          1,400           2,215          2,500              2,500             
Other Non-Business/Permits 322900 8,699          6,000           5,800          97% 6,000              6,000             
Building Inspections 323120 5,768          6,000           2,700          45% 6,000              6,000             
Other Regulatory Fees 323900 -                 -                 -                 -                    -                   
Intergovernmental Revenue - Tucker337000 7,359          7,200           5,400          7,200              7,200             
Tree Replacement/Preservation Fees341390 27,200        27,200            27,200           

Printing & Duplicating 341400 706             400             1,695          424% 1,800              1,800             
Election Qualifying Fees 341910 1,548          -                 -                 -                    -                   
Accident Reports 342120 7,730          6,500           6,624          102% 7,000              7,000             
Special Pickups 344111 209             200             275             138% 400                400               
Backgrd Check Fees/Crim 346410 23,438        21,000         16,965        81% 21,000            21,000           
Woman Club Reservation 347200 19,582        20,000         15,001        75% 18,000            20,000           
Pool Admissions 347201 18,533        24,000         21,367        89% 21,367            21,367           
Pavilion Reservation Fees 347203 13,402        14,000         10,885        78% 13,000            14,000           
Program Fees 347500 -                 -                 250             0% 250                250               
Bad Check Fees 349300 25              100             25              25% 100                100               

As of October 26, 2018

FUND 1 -GENERAL FUND - Revenue



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

23 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Federal and City Seizure expenses fully funded by Seizure revenues. 

Seizure accounts are separate funds that may be expended to the full balance available. 

 

  

REVENUES

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 

ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 

26 , 2018

% OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& 

AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUESTAs of October 26, 2018

FUND 1 -GENERAL FUND - Revenue

Other Fees/Chgs for Svcs 349900 7                500             -                 0% 500                500               
Municpal Court Fines/Forf 351170 767,351       800,000       547,532       68% 700,000          700,000         
Police Admin IT Fee 351180 18,228        30,000         11,740        39% 20,000            20,000           
Interest Revenues 361000 1                -                 -                 -                    -                   
Contributions/Donations 371000 140             -                 -                 -                    -                   
Rents & Royalties 381000 83,175        73,000         53,909        74% 73,000            73,000           
Reim for Damaged Prop 383000 51,638        -                 -                 -                    -                   
Other Miscellaneous Rev 389000 35              1,000           51              5% 500                500               
Bus Shelter Revenue 389010 31,701        28,000         16,753        60% 33,506            33,506           
Reimburse DEA/OT 389005 19,284        18,000         11,474        64% 18,000            18,000           
Sale/General Fixed Assets 392100 -                 700             -                 0% 700                700               
Sale/Land Property 392200 -                 -                 0% -                    -                   
Transfer from Fund Balance 391100 -                 0% -                    -                   
Proceeds from Capital Leases 393130 258,699       -                 -                 0% 131,772          -                   
Proceeds from Debt Issuance 393140
Revenue - Proceeds GTIB Debt 393500 -                 5,788          

TOTAL - FUND 1 5,794,696  5,904,405   4,004,612  68% 6,157,482      6,378,468    



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

24 | P a g e  
 

 

 

  

 

  

As of October 26, 2018

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 2 - FEDERAL SEIZURE FUND - 210

Cash Confisications (Illegal Act) 351320 83,090        72,842        350,651              481.4%            352,000        103,180 

Other Confiscations/Escheat 351340 -                  -                   0.0%

Proceeds/Sale Confis Prop 351346 5,150          -                   8,000                                 8,000 

Fed Seiz/Interest Revenue 361000 6                 -                   23                                           25 

Surplue Funds Prior Year Trans 393510 -                  -                   -                          

Other Revenue 389000 -                  -                   -                          

TOTAL - Federal Seizure Account 88,247      72,842        358,674            492.4% 360,025        103,180     

REVENUE

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL 

AS OF 

OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

BUDGET

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 2 - CITY SEIZURE FUND - 211

Cash Confiscations (Illeg Ac) 351320 -                  -                   -                    

Proceeds/Sales/Confis Prop 351346 -                  -                   -                    

City Seiz Interest Revenue 361000 -                  -                   -                    

Other Misc Revenue 389000 -                  50                -                    0.0%                5,000            1,000 

Fund Balance Reserve

TOTAL - City Seizure Account -                  50                -                    0.0% 5,000             1,000         

REVENUE

As of October 26, 2018

Note:

Federal and City Seizure expenses fully funded by Seizure revenues.

Seizure accounts are separate funds that may be expended to the full balance available.



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

25 | P a g e  
 

 

 

REVENUE

2017 

ACTUAL

2018 

ADOPTED 

BUDGET

2018 ACTUAL AS 

OF OCTOBER 26 , 

2018

%  OF 

BUDGET

2018 

PROJECTED 

& AMENDED 

2019 

BUDGET 

REQUEST

FUND 3 - MULTIPLE GRANT FUND - 250

LMIG 3341100 -                   80,000          84,118                       105%                 84,118           80,000 

Gateway @ I-285 Landscape 50,000          -                                              -                     - 

Board of Health-Community Relations 42,653          -                                              -                     - 

GDOT-All Systems Safety Enhancement Grant 80,000          80,000                                       80,000                     - 

NRPA 10 Minute Walk Grant 331155 -                   -                    40,000                                       40,000             9,370 

PATH Foundation-Path Grant 334200 9,712            -                                              -                     - 

-                                              - 

TOTAL 102,365      160,000      204,118                   128% 204,118            89,370        

FUND 4 -500 - STORM WATER UTILITY REVENUE

Storm Water Fees Fund 344190 219,689        225,732        188,697                     84%               299,000         299,000 

Prior Yr Stormwater fees 344195 7,953            2,000            5,878                         294%                   4,000             4,000 

Storm Water Bank Interest 361000 17                 10                 21                              206%                        26                  20 

Transfer Prior Stormwater Funds -                    -                                

TOTALS 227,659      227,742      194,596                   85% 303,026            303,020     

FUND 6 -540 - SANITATION FUND REVENUE

Sanitation Fees/Enterprise 344110 176,800        185,771        121,706                     66%               213,000         213,000 

Prior Yr Sanitaion Fees 344115 8,345            5,000            6,142                         123%                   5,000             5,000 

Commercial Business Fees 344120 -                   -                    -                                                          -                     - 

Sanitation Interest 36100 2                   15                 -                                                          -                     - 

TOTALS 185,147      190,786      127,848                   67% 218,000            218,000     

FUND 330 - HOST FUND REVENUE

HOST Revenues 313300 74,395          60,000          18,691                       31%                 60,000           40,000 

TOTALS 74,395        60,000        18,691                     31% 60,000              40,000        

FUND 360 - FRIENDSHIP FOREST FUND

Interest Revenue 361000 83                 30                 65                                                     80                  30 

Bond Proceeds 393100 1,350,000     -                    -                                                          -                     - 

Project Spending from Fund Balance 988,968        287,989                                   588,000         400,888 

TOTALS 1,350,083  988,998      288,053                   29% 588,080            400,918     

FUND 360 - STREETSCAPE CONSTRUCTION FUND

Proceeds from GTIB/SRTA Loans 393500 1,418,277     1,245,013     144,963                     12% 300,000              945,013       

FHWA Grant (2005 Earmark) 1,851,772     296,872                                   600,000      1,251,772 

ARC-STBG Program Grant 1,043,215          1,043,215 

TOTALS 1,418,277  4,140,000   441,835                   11% 900,000            3,240,000  

FUND 320 - SPLOST FUND

SPLOST Tax Revenue 313300 -                   1,213,282     852,443                     70%            1,278,000      1,704,000 

Interest Revenue 361000 -                   -                    4,029                                           5,229             3,600 

Funding from Bond Proceeds/Fund Balance -                    -                                              917,348      2,557,651 

TOTALS -                   1,213,282   856,472                   71% 2,200,577        4,265,251  

As of October 26, 2018



January 1, 2019 2019 PROPOSED OPERATING & ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET 

  

26 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

City of Clarkston 2019 General Fund Budget Additions and Options

Revenue Value of 1 Mil Final 2018 Tax Digest $166,859 Comments/Notes

New Positions Proposed

Planning and Development - Building Inspector 67,673.00$    0.41 Mil

Public Works - One General Laborer 48,202.00$    0.29 Mil

Capital Equipment Purchases

Police Radios 138,000.00$  0.83 Mil

Public Works - Two Mowers 17,200.00$    0.10 Mil

Parks - Replace Water Line at Milam Park 20,000.00$    0.12 Mil

Debt Service Payments - Capital Lease Payments for Police Take Home Cars

Police Take  Home Vehicles 160,309.00$  0.96 Mil 5 Year Lease Agreement Total $801,545

Other Items

Two Laptops - City Council Chambers/Special Projects 2,600.00$      0.02 Mil

Live Streaming Camera Equipment 1,000.00$      0.01 Mil

454,984.00$  2.73 Mil

Mayor / City Council Requests Still Pending

Part-time Graduate Assistant - UGA 8,300.00$      0.05 Mil

Part-time Policy Analyst 25,000.00$    0.15 Mil

LED Lighting Retrofit Proposal 9,852.00$      0.06 Mil $29,556 over three years

Grant Writing Services 5,000.00$      0.03 Mil

ClearGov web reporting 5,000.00$      0.03 Mil

Wildflower Contract 25,000.00$    0.15 Mil

Police Community Engagement Position 60,000.00$    0.36 Mil

Stipends for Committee Members 8,400.00$      0.05 Mil

Stipends Increase for Planning & Zoning Members 3,600.00$      0.02 Mil

150,152.00$  0.90 Mil



ORDINANCE _____ 

 

A BUDGET ORDINANCE  

 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ADOPTION OF A BUDGET PROPOSED BY THE CITY 

MANAGER CONTAINING ESTIMATES OF THE PROPOSED REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES 

OF THE CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA, AND TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVY OF TAXES FOR 

EXPENSES OF SAID CITY FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2019, AND 

ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2019. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA: 

 

Section 1. That the proposed Fiscal Year 2019 Budget, attached hereto and incorporated herein as a 

part of this Ordinance is hereby adopted as the Budget for the City of Clarkston, Georgia 

for Fiscal Year 2019, which begins January 1, 2019 and ends on December 31, 2019. 

 

Section 2. That the several items of revenues, other financial resources, and sources of cash shown 

in the budget for each fund in the amounts shown anticipated are hereby adopted, and that 

the several amounts shown in the budget for each fund as proposed expenditures or 

expenses, and uses of cash are hereby appropriated to the departments named in each 

fund. 

 

Section 3. That the “legal level of control” as defined in OCGA §36-81 is set at the departmental 

level, meaning that the City Manager in his capacity as Budget Officer is authorized to 

move appropriations from one line item to another within a department, but under no 

circumstances may expenditures or expenses exceed the amount appropriated for a 

department without a further Budget amendment approved by the Mayor and City 

Council. 

 

Section 4. That all appropriations shall lapse at the end of the fiscal year.  

 

Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its date of 

adoption. 

 

Section 6. That for the said fiscal year, there are no debt service expenses outstanding for bonds. 

 

Section 7. All ordinances or parts of ordinances, inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 ADOPTED this 4th day of December, 2018.     

 

       _____________________________ 

                 Ted Terry, MAYOR 

                       

Attest: 

 

______________________ 

Tracy Ashby, City Clerk  

 

(S  E  A  L) 



 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATES: December 4, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Variance requests from (Silver Oaks Apartments) Netz Fund Silver Oaks, LLC/TWG, 
Development, and LLC c/o J. Alexander Brock o divide the existing lot, known at 1281 Brockett Road, 
Clarkston, GA 30021 into two lots.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
PURPOSE:  The Mayor and City Council shall review the submitted variance requests from (Silver 
Oaks Apartments) Netz Fund Silver Oaks, LLC/TWG, Development, and LLC c/o J. Alexander Brock to vary 
from Section 614 of the Zoning Ordinance to eliminate the Street Frontage Requirement (proposed Tract 
II) and to vary from Section 622 of the Zoning Ordinance- Permitted encroachments upon required 
setbacks.  If granted, these variances will allow the applicant to divide the existing lot, known at 1281 
Brockett Road, Clarkston, GA 30021 into two lots. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
The subject property known as Silver Oaks Apartments located at 1281 Brockett Road, Clarkston, GA  
30021, is a total of 37.175 acres. The site has 41 buildings with 402 units that will be rehabbed and 
renovated.  The applicant is seeking financial assistance from Housing and Urban Development (HUD.) 
According to the applicant there is a HUD criteria that prohibits federal financial assistance for use in a 
floodway. As a result the applicant is requesting the variances to subdivide the property to separate out 
the property that contains the existing detention pond and is within the floodway.  
 
These requests were reviewed at the November 20, 2018 Planning and Zoning Board Meeting.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff Analysis Attached 
Staff recommends approval of the variance requests with conditions. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: Meeting minutes attached. 
Based on the November 20, 2018, Planning and Zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommends approval of the variance requests with staff recommended conditions.  

ITEM NO: H2 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS:  YES   NO 
Pages: 31 

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES     NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



























































    

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD 

MEETING 

                 

  

  

  

 

 

   MINUTES 

  November 20, 2018 7:00 PM     

City Hall  

3921 Church Street 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 6:58 PM. 
 

B. ROLL CALL: Chairman Birendra Dhakal, Felicia Weinert, Amy Medford, P&D Director Shawanna Qawiy, and 

Secretary Melissa Foster. 

 

C. APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 2018 MEETING MINUTES: Ms. Medford made a motion to approve the 

minutes as written. Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0. 

 

D. NEW BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: Variance requests from (Silver Oaks Apartments) Netz Fund Silver Oaks, 

LLC/TWG, Development, and LLC c/o J. Alexander Brock to vary from Section 614 of the Zoning 

Ordinance to eliminate the Street Frontage Requirement (proposed Tract II) and to vary from Section 622 

of the Zoning Ordinance- Permitted encroachments upon required setbacks.  If granted, these variances will 

allow the applicant to divide the existing lot, known at 1281 Brockett Road, Clarkston, GA 30021 into two 

lots. Dennis Webb was present to speak for the request. Ms. Qawiy read the staff recommendation for 

conditional approval of the request and the public hearing was opened. Mr. Webb gave an overview and 

answered questions. Dean Moore-Rayford Trail wanted more information about the project and was told 

he could have requested additional information prior to the meeting. Harry Kendricks-Brockett Road stated 

he did not have enough time or information to make an informed decision. Chris Busing-Mauck Street 

responded to a statement Mr. Webb made regarding timeliness of approval of the request and said “your 

emergency is not our problem”.  Bob Humphries-Norman Road asked if there’s a way to get more 

information prior to the meetings. The public hearing was closed. Ms. Medford made a motion to approve 

the variance requests to vary from Section 614 of the ordinance to eliminate the street frontage requirement 

(proposed tract II) and to vary from Section 622 permitted encroachments upon required setbacks to allow 

the applicant to divide the existing lot into two lots with the following conditions: 

1-   Tract 1 will contain the existing 41 buildings to be renovated and improved and the 25 foot      

rear setback encroachment of the existing pool deck. 

 

                     2- Tract 2 will remain undeveloped and will contain the existing detention pond and the 10 foot  

              front yard encroachment of the existing pool deck, even with the transfer of ownership. 

 

            3- The new plat shall contain an access and maintenance easement agreement for maintenance of  

                 the stormwater structure and runoff for the property. The maintenance easement agreement    

               shall be recorded and shall remain in effect even with the transfer of ownership. 

 

            4-The current plat shall be submitted to DeKalb County and City staff for review of compliance   

              with all added (current) conditions before being recorded.  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

          5- The owners shall be responsible for compliance with the Corps of Engineers for wetlands.   

 

Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0. 

  

PUBLIC HEARING: A variance request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated 

submitted by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, 

consisting of 14.3941 acres to vary from Section 1102-Design Standards and Section 1107 Minimum off-

street parking requirements to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces 

per unit and to reduce the parking space from 20 feet deep to 18 feet deep. Craig Taylor was present to 

speak for the request. Ms. Qawiy read the staff recommendation for conditional approval of the conceptual 

site plan and approval of the variance requests. The public hearing was opened and Dean Moore-Rayford 

Trail questioned whether there should be a pull-off bus lane so traffic would flow better 

and to possibly move the Marta bus stop. Beverly Burks-Mount Berry Court asked the Board to strongly 

consider that all the variance criteria are met before granting the variance. Mr. Moore asked Ms. Qawiy to 

clarify the ordinance for variances. The public hearing was closed.    

       Ms. Medford made a motion for conditional approval of the conceptual site plan as designed with the 

following conditions; 

 

1- The pre-application meeting with City staff and the owners/developers is required to determine all 

specifications as required for conformity with the regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 

2- The owners shall be responsible for all maintain all local and state stream buffer requirements and 

compliance with the Corps of Engineers for wetlands. 

 

;and for approval of the variance requests to vary from Section 1102-Design Standards and Section 

1107 Minimum off-street parking requirements to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 

spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit and to reduce the parking spaces from 20 feet deep to 18 feet 

deep. 

 

Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0.  

       

                

 

E.  ADJOURNMENT: Ms. Medford made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:31 PM. Ms. Weinert gave a second 

and the motion passed 3/0. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Melissa M. Foster 

Secretary 

 

 



 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATES: December 4, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: Variance requests from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated submitted by Craig 
Taylor (Agent) of 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 
spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit and to reduce the parking spaces from 20 feet deep to 18 feet 
deep.  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:  The Mayor and City Council shall review the submitted variance requests from the 
Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated submitted by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-
086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, consisting of 14.3941 acres to vary from Section 1102-
Design Standards and Section 1107 Minimum off-street parking requirements  of the Zoning Ordinance 
to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit and to reduce 
the parking space from 20 feet deep to 18 feet deep. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:   
The subject property recently annexed into the City limits of Clarkston, currently houses the vacant 
Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated. The subject property, a total of 14.386 acres, (8 acres will 
remain undeveloped) will be constructed into a 196 unit multifamily work force housing development. In 
an effort to decrease the impervious surface of the development and to reduce the number of cars, the 
applicant is seeking to reduce the parking space requirement of 2.0 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces and to 
reduce the depth of each space from 20 feet to 18 feet. 
 
These requests were reviewed at the November 20, 2018 Planning and Zoning Board Meeting.  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff Analysis Attached 
Staff recommends conditional approval of the conceptual site plan with conditions. 
Staff recommends approval of the variance requests with conditions. 
 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: Meeting minutes attached. 
Based on the November 20, 2018, Planning and Zoning Board public hearing meeting, the Board 
recommends conditional approval of the conceptual site plan with conditions and of the variance 
requests.  

ITEM NO: H3 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
 Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES     NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

































































































    

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD 

MEETING 

                 

  

  

  

 

 

   MINUTES 

  November 20, 2018 7:00 PM     

City Hall  

3921 Church Street 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 6:58 PM. 
 

B. ROLL CALL: Chairman Birendra Dhakal, Felicia Weinert, Amy Medford, P&D Director Shawanna Qawiy, and 

Secretary Melissa Foster. 

 

C. APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 2018 MEETING MINUTES: Ms. Medford made a motion to approve the 

minutes as written. Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0. 

 

D. NEW BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: Variance requests from (Silver Oaks Apartments) Netz Fund Silver Oaks, 

LLC/TWG, Development, and LLC c/o J. Alexander Brock to vary from Section 614 of the Zoning 

Ordinance to eliminate the Street Frontage Requirement (proposed Tract II) and to vary from Section 622 

of the Zoning Ordinance- Permitted encroachments upon required setbacks.  If granted, these variances will 

allow the applicant to divide the existing lot, known at 1281 Brockett Road, Clarkston, GA 30021 into two 

lots. Dennis Webb was present to speak for the request. Ms. Qawiy read the staff recommendation for 

conditional approval of the request and the public hearing was opened. Mr. Webb gave an overview and 

answered questions. Dean Moore-Rayford Trail wanted more information about the project and was told 

he could have requested additional information prior to the meeting. Harry Kendricks-Brockett Road stated 

he did not have enough time or information to make an informed decision. Chris Busing-Mauck Street 

responded to a statement Mr. Webb made regarding timeliness of approval of the request and said “your 

emergency is not our problem”.  Bob Humphries-Norman Road asked if there’s a way to get more 

information prior to the meetings. The public hearing was closed. Ms. Medford made a motion to approve 

the variance requests to vary from Section 614 of the ordinance to eliminate the street frontage requirement 

(proposed tract II) and to vary from Section 622 permitted encroachments upon required setbacks to allow 

the applicant to divide the existing lot into two lots with the following conditions: 

1-   Tract 1 will contain the existing 41 buildings to be renovated and improved and the 25 foot      

rear setback encroachment of the existing pool deck. 

 

                     2- Tract 2 will remain undeveloped and will contain the existing detention pond and the 10 foot  

              front yard encroachment of the existing pool deck, even with the transfer of ownership. 

 

            3- The new plat shall contain an access and maintenance easement agreement for maintenance of  

                 the stormwater structure and runoff for the property. The maintenance easement agreement    

               shall be recorded and shall remain in effect even with the transfer of ownership. 

 

            4-The current plat shall be submitted to DeKalb County and City staff for review of compliance   

              with all added (current) conditions before being recorded.  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

          5- The owners shall be responsible for compliance with the Corps of Engineers for wetlands.   

 

Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0. 

  

PUBLIC HEARING: A variance request from the Vietnamese Faith Baptist Church, Incorporated 

submitted by Craig Taylor (Agent) of parcel 18-142-01-086 located at 4692 East Ponce de Leon Avenue, 

consisting of 14.3941 acres to vary from Section 1102-Design Standards and Section 1107 Minimum off-

street parking requirements to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces 

per unit and to reduce the parking space from 20 feet deep to 18 feet deep. Craig Taylor was present to 

speak for the request. Ms. Qawiy read the staff recommendation for conditional approval of the conceptual 

site plan and approval of the variance requests. The public hearing was opened and Dean Moore-Rayford 

Trail questioned whether there should be a pull-off bus lane so traffic would flow better 

and to possibly move the Marta bus stop. Beverly Burks-Mount Berry Court asked the Board to strongly 

consider that all the variance criteria are met before granting the variance. Mr. Moore asked Ms. Qawiy to 

clarify the ordinance for variances. The public hearing was closed.    

       Ms. Medford made a motion for conditional approval of the conceptual site plan as designed with the 

following conditions; 

 

1- The pre-application meeting with City staff and the owners/developers is required to determine all 

specifications as required for conformity with the regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 

2- The owners shall be responsible for all maintain all local and state stream buffer requirements and 

compliance with the Corps of Engineers for wetlands. 

 

;and for approval of the variance requests to vary from Section 1102-Design Standards and Section 

1107 Minimum off-street parking requirements to reduce the required parking requirements of 2.0 

spaces per unit to 1.5 spaces per unit and to reduce the parking spaces from 20 feet deep to 18 feet 

deep. 

 

Ms. Weinert gave a second and the motion passed 3/0.  

       

                

 

E.  ADJOURNMENT: Ms. Medford made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:31 PM. Ms. Weinert gave a second 

and the motion passed 3/0. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Melissa M. Foster 

Secretary 

 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: December 4, 2018 
 
 

SUBJECT:  Approve 2019 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) application submittal to the Georgia 
Department of Transportation 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:    
To approve the 2019 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) application submittal to the Georgia 
Department of Transportation. 

NEED/ IMPACT:  
Each year, Georgia cities and counties have the opportunity to submit applications to GDOT to receive funds 
earmarked for transportation and infrastructure improvement. Successful application require a commitment of the 
governing authority to match the LMIG funds, successful implementation of previous LMIG projects and 
appropriateness of the proposed project.  
 
The grant amount is determined by a formula that considers a community’s population and total centerline mileage 
in July of the previous calendar year. Based upon this formula, Clarkston’s allocation for 2018 will be $88,634.92. 
 
Additionally, the city will request that the unspent 2018 LMIG allocation of $84,118.28 be shifted to FY 2019 and 
combined with the 2019 LMIG allocation applied towards construction of the “Rowland Street Green Street – Road 
Diet” Project. This project entails converting a segment of Rowland Street into a shared pedestrian/vehicular street. 
The FY 18 & 19 LMIG funding will be utilized to install pedestrian enhancements such as new crosswalks and 
sidewalks; new curb, resurfacing, speed control devices, driveway pruning and striping.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Staff recommends the City Council approve the submittal of the 2019 LMIG application to the Georgia Department 
of Transportation.    
    
   

ITEM NO: H4 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT: X YES   NO 
Pages: 6 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  Keith Barker 

PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



Revised 11/1/2017 

Page 1 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION LOCAL 
MAINTENANCE & IMPROVEMENT GRANT (LMIG) 

2019APPLICATION FOR FISCAL YEAR
TYPE OR PRINT LEGIBLY. ALL SECTIONS MUST BE COMPLETED. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFORMATION 

Date of Application: 

Name of local government:   
Address: 
Contact Person and Title:   
Contact Person’s Phone Number:  
Contact Person’s Fax Number:   
Contact Person’s Email:   

Is the Priority List attached? 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AFFIDAVIT AND CERTIFICATION 

I,                                                                             (Name), the                                                               (Title), on behalf of 
     (Local Government), who being duly sworn do swear that the information given 

herein is true to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.  Local Government swears and certifies that it has read and 
understands the LMIG General Guidelines and Rules and that it has complied with and will comply with the same. 

Local government further swears and certifies that it has read and understands the regulations for the Georgia Planning 
Act of 1989 (O.C.G.A. § 45-12-200, et seq.), Service Delivery Strategy Act (O.C.G.A. § 36-70-20, et seq.), and the Local 
Government Budgets and Audits Act (O.C.G.A. 36-81-7 et seq.) and will comply in full with said provisions. Local 
government further swears and certifies that the roads or sections of roads described and shown on the local government’s 
Project List are dedicated public roads and are part of the Public Road System in said county/city. Local government 
further swears and certifies that it complied with federal and/or state environmental protection laws and at the completion of 
the project(s), it met the match requirements as stated in the Transportation Investment ACT (TIA). 

Further, the local government shall be responsible for any claim, damage, loss or expense that is attributable to negligent 
acts, errors, or omissions related to the designs, drawings, specifications, work and other services furnished by or on 
behalf of the local government pursuant to this Application (“Loss”). To the extent provided by law, the local government 
further agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the DEPARTMENT and the State of Georgia from all suits or claims that 
may arise from said Loss. 

December 4th, 2018

City of Clarkston, GA 
City Annex Building; 1055 Rowland Street, Clarkston, GA 30021

Keith Barker, City Manager
678-749-2057
NA

kbarker@cityofclarkston.com

Yes



Revised 11/1/2017 

Page 2 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION LOCAL 
MAINTENANCE & IMPROVEMENT GRANT (LMIG) 

APPLICATION FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AFFIDAVIT AND CERTIFICATION 

If the local government fails to comply with these General Guidelines and Rules, or fails to comply with its Application and 
Certification, or fails to cooperate with the auditor(s) or fails to maintain and retain sufficient records, the DEPARTMENT 
may, at its discretion, prohibit the local government from participating in the LMIG program in the future and may pursue 
any available legal remedy to obtain reimbursement of the LMIG funds. Furthermore, if in the estimation of the 
DEPARTMENT, a roadway or bridge shows evidence of failure(s) due to poor workmanship, the use of substandard 
materials, or the failure to follow the required design and construction guidelines as set forth herein, the Department may 
pursue any available legal remedy to obtain reimbursement of the allocated LMIG funds or prohibit local government from 
participating in the LMIG program until such time as corrections are made to address the deficiencies or reimbursement is 
made.  All projects identified on the Project list shall be constructed in accordance with the Department’s Standard 
Specifications of Transportation Systems (Current Edition), Supplemental Specifications (Current Edition), and Special 
Provisions. 

Local Government: 
E-Verify Number 

(Signature) Sworn to and subscribed before me, 

(Print) This day of , 20 . 
Mayor / Commission Chairperson 

In the presence of: 
(Date) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT SEAL:
NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Expires:

NOTARY SEAL: 

FOR GDOT USE ONLY 

The local government’s Application is hereby granted and the amount allocated to the local government is 
__________________.  Such allocation must be spent on any or all of those projects listed in the Project List. 

This  day of   , 20  . 

 GDOT Office of Local Grants 



 

December 18th, 2012 
June 30th, 2013 (revised) 

August 3rd, 2014 (revised) 
November 2015 (revised) 

June 2016 (revised) 
August 9th. 2016 (revised) 

November 27th, 2017 (revised) 
November 18th, 2018 (revised) 

CITY OF CLARKSTON - LMIG STATUS UPDATE 
 

PROJECT  
NAME/TYPE 

PROJECT 
TYPE  

PROJECT  
LIMITS/LENGTH 

PROJECT  
SCOPE 

PROJECT SCHEDULE CITY EXPENDURES  
 

East Ponce de 
Leon  

 
 
 

2013 LMIG 

Drainage 
Improvements 

Between 4317 & 
4329 East Ponce 

de Leon Ave 

Replace inadequate 
drainage 

infrastructure on 
city ROW; culverts, 

catch basins and 
curb/gutter 

• Design plans completed – May 
2013  

• Easement Acquisition 100% 
complete (March 2013) 

• Construction bid opening July 
22nd, 2013 

• Completed November 2013 

• Design/Construction plans 
- $17,000 

• Final Construction Cost 
- $135,000  

Rogers 
St/PATH Trail 

 
 

Drainage 
Improvements 

PATH Spur 
between Rogers St 
and PATH Trail 

Improve existing 
drainage channel 
parallel to spur 

trail; new culvert on 
Rogers St 

• Design plans completed – May 
2013 

• Easement Acquisition 100% 
complete (March 2013) 

• Construction bid opening July 
22nd, 2013 

• Completed November 2013 

 
NA 

(not LMIG eligible) 

Church St  
(Note #1) 

Road 
Patching 

Between DeKalb 
County Line (east 
end) & Market St 

 

Full depth asphaltic 
patching 

Estimated construction “let’ 
schedule late 2013/2014 

NA 

Various 
sidewalk 
repairs 

(Montreal Rd) 
 
 
2014 LMIG 

New 
sidewalks 

NA Provide sidewalk 
connectivity to 

meet ADA 
standards; construct 

new sidewalks 
within city right-of-

way 

• Design plans completed 
November 2013 

• Construction completed May 
2014 

• Project completed June 2014 

• Design/Construction 
Plans - $12,000 

• Program 
Management/Engineering 
- $4000 

• Final Construction Cost 
- $173,726 
 



PROJECT  
NAME/TYPE 

PROJECT 
TYPE 

PROJECT  
LIMITS/LENGTH 

PROJECT 
SCOPE 

ESTIMATED 
PROJECT COST 

PROJECT 
SCHEDULE- 
CONTRACT 

AMOUNT 

CITY 
EXPENDITURES 

East Ponce de 
Leon (PH I) 

sidewalks from 
Montreal Rd to 
West Smith St 

LMIG 2015 

Replace 
existing 

non-ADA 
complaint 
sidewalks 

Approximately 
1500 feet 

Provide sidewalk 
connectivity to meet 

ADA standards; 
remove existing 

sidewalks w/ new 5 
ft. sidewalks and 

ADA ramps. 
Sidewalks within city 

right-of-way 

• Engineering -
$12,000

• Construction -
$193,000 (granite
header curb);
$132,000 (concrete
header curb)

• Inspection/Adm. -
$6000

• Sign relocation -
$10,000

• Bid opening
10/13/2015 – 5
bidders

• Low bid
$156,206.50
(granite)

LMIG Allocation - 
$40,534 

Final contract 
amount $178,488 

City match 30% of 
allocation; project total 

cost > $52,694 is satisfied 

East Ponce de 
Leon (PH II) 

sidewalks from 
West Smith St 

to 
approximately 

4392 East 
Ponce de Leon 

LMIG 2016 
LMIG 2017 

Replace 
existing 

non-ADA 
complaint 
sidewalks 

Approximately 
1200 ft. 

Provide sidewalk 
connectivity to meet 

ADA standards; 
remove existing 

sidewalks w/ new 5 
ft. sidewalks and 

ADA ramps. 
Sidewalks within city 

right-of-way 

• Engineering -
$4000

• Construction
Contract -
$199,656.05
(bid opening
5/26/2016; low
bid is Leach
Landscaping,
Inc.)

• Const. Insp. &
testing - $5000
(estimated)

• Construction to
commence
Oct./Nov. 2016)

• All temporary
construction
easements
donated

• 2016 LMIG allocation
- $64,148.84

• 2017 LMIG allocation
- $75,920.94

Total LMIG = $140,069.78 

Final contract 
amount $201,556.09 

City match is 30% of 
allocation; project total 

cost must be > $182,090. 
Based on the contract 

amount, the state 
requirement is satisfied 

Rowland Street 
“Road Diet – 
Green Street” 
(see attached 
location map) 

LMIG 2018 
& 2019 

Covert street 
into a “shared” 

pedestrian – 
vehicular 
facility 

Approx. 1200 feet 
Install pedestrian 

enhancements  that 
includes new sidewalks, 
C&G, crosswalks, speed 
control devices, driveway 
pruning, resurfacing and 

striping 

• Engineering -
$83,726

• Construction -
$935,000

• 2018 & 2019 LMIG
funds to be applied
towards construction
phase

• Design
commenced
October 2018

• Anticipate
construction to
commence Fall
2019 

• 2018 LMIG allocation
- $84,118.28

• 2019 LMIG allocation
- $88,634.92

Total  LMIG - 
$172,753.20 

City match is 30% of 
allocation; project total 

cost must be > 
$224,579.16 



 Revised 11/26/2014 

FY ______ 

LOCAL MAINTENANCE & IMPROVEMENT GRANT Program (LMIG) 

STATEMENT OF FINAL PROJECT EXPENDITURES 

DATE:_____________________________________ 

COUNTY:__________________________________ 

CITY:_____________________________________ 

PI#: ________________________ 

Submitted By: _________________________________________________ 

LMIG EXPENDITURES: $_______________________ 

*10% or 30% MATCH: $_______________________  

TOTAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURES: $________________________ 

TOTAL PROJECT EXPENDITURES:  $________________________ 

By signature below, I hereby certify that the above expenditures are for the work completed on the 
attached final Project List for the FY ______ LMIG Program.   

Authorized Local Government Official:  ________________________________________________ 

Construction Field Audit Performed (For GDOT use only): Yes    No     (Circle One) 

APPROVED:_____________________________________ 

(DISTRICT ENGINEER) 

*Note:  Required local match will be based on (10% or 30%) of the LMIG Allocation.



PATH – Clarkston Phase 
SECTION E-2 

Project Limits & Description 

Convert Rowland Street to a “Green Street” from Market Street to NIC; bikers/pedestrians 
sharing the public right-of-way with vehicles; landscape island between parking lot & road; 
landscape island to also become a stormwater quality feature (bioswale) for road runoff; milling 
& resurfacing, new striping, new curb and gutter - 1200 feet 

Project Details: 

• Staff recommends new ordinance that allows for changes in use of public road right-of-way
• Provide a public meeting for dissemination of information on project; modifications to public

use of Rowland St right-of-way
• Potential opportunity for federal funds on “Green Street” project – planning to implementation

approx. 3-5 years
• Discuss with church administration modifications to Baptist and Methodist parking lot access –

all access onto Rogers Street
• Landscaping to encroach into parking lots – city 2013 survey reflects 50 ft. ROW on Rowland
• International Bible School parking lot paving – church responsible for cost
• Methodist Church parking lot paving – church responsible for cost
• Coordination of Green St improvements with Streetscape scope on Market

Estimated Cost: 

CITY:  

$1,000,000 (construction and design) 

PATH: 

Willing to consider a yet TBD funding level. Will revisit project with the city in 2019 



Rowland Street - Existing 

SECTION E-2



Rowland Street - Proposed 

SECTION E-2





 

 

 
PATH – Clarkston Phase 

SECTION E-1 
 

Project Limits & Description  

Restrict vehicle access to Rowland Street, from Market St. to Norman Road.  Provide for bike 
and pedestrian access only. Install bollards on both ends of Rowland Street, convert Norman Rd 
at PATH trail to a 2-way stop condition (Rowland Street will be a “free-flowing condition for 
bikers/pedestrians) & install brick pavers or other architectural/landscaping features at PATH 
crossing with Norman Rd.  

Project Details: 

• Provide public meeting for dissemination of information on the closure of Rowland to 
vehicles 

• Discuss access modifications with office park owners and provide alternate access to Market 
• City responsible for maintenance  
• If council approved, modifications would occur after streetscape project is completed - after 

11/2019. Sidewalks and relocation of granite curb would be removed from the streetscape 
scope. Request for scope change would be submitted to GDOT in late 2017/early 2018. 
Asphalt milling and resurfacing would remain in the streetscape project scope. 
 

Estimated Cost: 

City: 

$60,000 

PATH 

$0.00 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: December 4, 2018 
 
 

SUBJECT:  Amend Chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances regarding alcohol to define, permit and regulate 
Microbreweries and establish fees for Microbreweries License 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:    
Adopt an ordinance to Amend Chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances regarding alcohol to define, permit and regulate 
Microbreweries and establish, by resolution, the fees for Microbreweries License  
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  
The City of Clarkston has determined that one or more small breweries locating within the City would have a 
positive impact on economic development and would benefit the general welfare.  The City Council desires to define 
“microbreweries” and designate their permitted operation by the proposed ordinance.   
 
If the Council adopts the microbrewery ordinance, then Code Section 3-130(c) and Section 3-133(b) require the 
Council set a one-time fee, by resolution, for a microbrewery license and a permit for open area/patio/deck alcohol 
sales, respectively.  The accompanying resolution provides  for the establishment of those fees by the Council.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
No Staff recommendation.   
 
 

 

 
 
    
   

ITEM NO: H5 

ACTION TYPE: 
Ordinance 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:  YES   NO 
Pages: 2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:  Jamie Carroll  
and YT Bell 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   









RESOLUTION NO. ___ 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL TO SET FEE AMOUNTS 
FOR MICROBREWERY ALCOHOL LICENSES AS WELL AS MICRROBREWERY 

OPEN AREA/PATIO/DECK ALCOHOL SERVICE PERMIT APPLICATIONS. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Clarkston has authorized Microbreweries to operate within the City 
upon obtaining a license to do so; and 
 
WHEREAS, City Code Section 3-130(c) provides that the annual fee amount for a 
microbrewery license shall be established by duly adopted resolution of the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, City Code Section 3-133(b) provides that the one-time application fee amount for 
consideration of a permit for open area/patio/deck alcohol sales by a microbrewery shall be 
established by duly adopted resolution of the City Council. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE City Council of the City of Clarkston 
that the annual fee amount for a microbrewery license shall be $_______. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the one-time application fee amount for consideration of a 
permit application for open area/patio/deck alcohol sales by a microbrewery shall be $________. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the fee amounts established by this resolution shall be 
effective immediately and shall remain in effect until and unless changed by subsequent 
resolution of the City Council. 
 
SO RESOLVED, this ____ day of  ___________, 20___. 
 
 
 
      CITY COUNCIL 
      CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Ted Terry, Mayor 
Attest:  
 
 
______________________   
Tracy Ashby, City Clerk          
  
 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: December 4, 2018 
 

SUBJECT: To consider a new alcohol beverage license application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PURPOSE:   The Alcohol Review Committee (ARC) has received and reviewed a new alcohol beverage 
license application for Beer/Wine/Malt Beverages and Distilled Spirits.  The location to be 
considered for this alcohol beverage license is Dawghouse Restaurant & Lounge located at 4622 E 
Ponce de Leon Ave. 
 
NEED/ IMPACT:  The owners of DawgHouse Restaurant &Lounge have made application for an 
alcohol beverage license for Beer/Wine/Malt and Distilled Spirits. To date: all of the required 
inspections for alcohol application have been performed and passed as well as all of the required 
background checks.  All inspections to include FOG, Department of Health and Certificate of 
Occupancy have been approved/issued.  The ARC has performed a thorough review of the various 
components to this application.  The owner has been informed that the City will be closely reviewing 
all quarterly food/alcohol and monthly distilled spirits tax reports to ensure that they are in 
compliance with all applicable codes, including Sec. 3-27, which articulates the provisions for by-the-
drink sales of alcohol only being allowed at bona fide restaurants.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff (ARC) recommends that the Mayor and Council approve the alcohol 
beverage license application for Beer/Wine/Malt Beverage and Distilled Spirits. 
 

ITEM NO: H6 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 
 

HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: Alcohol Review Committee 

ATTACHMENT:   YES  NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   City Manager 

PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



























 
 

  
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
 

MEETING DATE: December 4, 2018 
 

SUBJECT: To allow the Mayor and City Council members to make recommendations and 
approve to fill one (1) vacant position and to reconfirm one (1) expiring term position on the 
Planning and Zoning Board. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
PURPOSE:  The Mayor and City Council has reviewed submitted applications and recommend Mr. 
Harry Kendrick as a viable candidate to fill a vacant position on the Planning and Zoning Board. 
 The term can be extended to a four (4) year term after the current term has expired and at the 
recommendation of the Mayor and City Council.   
 
 
The Mayor and City Council shall also make the recommendation to extend the term of current 
Planning and Zoning Board member Charles McFarland whose current term will expire on 
December 31, 2018.  The term can be extended to a four (4) year term after the current term has 
expired and at the recommendation of the Mayor and City Council.   

 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: N/A 

  

ITEM NO: H7 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

HEARING TYPE:  
Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning & Development 

ATTACHMENTS:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning and Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   


	Summary 2019 LMIG Application.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Approve 2019 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) application submittal to the Georgia Department of Transportation
	To approve the 2019 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) application submittal to the Georgia Department of Transportation.

	SummaryAmend Chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances regarding alcohol- Microbreweries.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Amend Chapter 3 of the Code of Ordinances regarding alcohol to define, permit and regulate Microbreweries and establish fees for Microbreweries License


	DATE: 12/4/2018
	COUNTY: DeKalb
	CITY: Clarkston
	PI: NA
	Submitted By: Keith Barker, City Manager
	undefined: TO BE COMPLETED W/ LMIG 2020
	undefined_2: TO BE COMPLETED W/ LMIG 2020
	undefined_3: TO BE COMPLETED W/ LMIG 2020
	undefined_4: TO BE COMPLETED W/ LMIG 2020
	attached final Project List for the FY: 18-19
	Authorized Local Government Official: TO BE COMPLETED W/ SUBMITTAL OF 2020 LMIG APPLICATION
	APPROVED: 
	FY: 18-19
	Yes: Off
	No: Off


